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WHAT WE ARE 
Since 1936, with $4,2B in assets, UNI Financial Cooperation,  
an inalienable collective heritage, is the largest Acadian  
financial institution. Playing a leadership role on  
New Brunswick’s economic stage, UNI Financial  
Cooperation is an important provincial employer  
and capitalizes on the skills of nearly 1,000 employees.  

UNI Financial Cooperation’s will to be close to its members  
and clients is at the heart of all its actions. Thanks to its  
different distribution channels and to employees who really want  
to offer quality services, it can remain close to its members and 
clients and to the communities of which they are a part.

This approach is consistent with its desire to ensure the  
vitality of the Caisse’s cooperative life with regard to  
democratic life, representativeness, education and training, 
intercooperation and social development support. 
   

PURPOSE 
INSPIRING, SUPPORTING, FINANCING AND PROTECTING 
collaborative economy projects which stimulate the growth of 
the province. No financial institution has more legitimacy  
to give life to its purpose. We are the ONLY organization  
entirely devoted to Acadian prosperity! Vigorously  
determined, UNI has a spirit of adventure and the  
courage to take on new projects, but not at any price.  
While we sometimes shake up some conventions,  
it is always with great respect for the rules and  
with the protection of present and future  
generations’ well-being in mind.
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2018
HIGHLIGHTS As of  

December 31, 2018

2018 Highlights

IN ASSETS

$4.2B

UNI BUSINESS 

OFFICES4
BUSINESS 

LOCATIONS

51
UNI INSURANCE 

OFFICES2

36
MEMBERS

IN DONATIONS, 
SPONSORSHIPS AND 

SCHOLARSHIPS

$2.6M3
COOPERATIVE 

COMMITTEES

155,000 1,000
MORE THAN NEARLY

MEMBERS AND CLIENTS EMPLOYEES

SURPLUS OF

$16.2M 
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BUSINESS LOCATIONS

REGIONAL  
OFFICES
   UNI Insurance 

Dieppe, Shippagan

    UNI Business 

Bathurst, Dieppe, 
Edmundston, Tracadie

Northwest  
area
Balmoral, Campbellton, Clair, 

Edmundston (Canada Road  

and Victoria Street), Eel River,  

Grand-Sault, Kedgwick,  

Sainte-Anne de Madawaska, 

Saint-Basile, Saint-François, 

Saint-Jacques, Saint-Léonard, 

Saint-Quentin.

Northeast 
area
Allardville, Bas-Caraquet, 

Bathurst, Beresford, 

Caraquet, Grande-Anse,  

Inkerman, Lamèque,  

Néguac, Paquetville,  

Petit-Rocher, Pokemouche,  

Rivière du Portage-Brantville, 

Robertville, Saint-Isidore, 

Sheila, Shippagan,  

Tracadie-Sheila.

Southeast 
area
Baie Sainte-Anne,  

Bouctouche, Cap-Pelé,  

Cocagne, Dieppe,  

Fredericton, Grand-Barachois,  

Grande-Digue, Moncton 

(Morton Avenue, Churchill 

St, St. Georges St, Université 

de Moncton), Memramcook, 

Richibucto, Rogersville,  

Saint-Antoine, Saint-Louis, 

Sainte-Marie, Shediac.

Northwest Northeast

Southeast

Business Locations

facebook.com/unicooperation 

twitter.com/UNIcooperation

linkedin.com/company/uni-cooperation-financiere

youtube.com/caissespopulaires

plus.google.com/+Caissepopulaireacadienne

instagram.com/unicooperation

Virtual Caisse

The online account management app. 
Free, simple and secure.

R Apple is a registered trademark of Apple Inc.
TM Android is a registered trademark of Google Inc.
R BlackBerry is a registered trademark of Research In Motion Ltd
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Dear Members and Clients, 

I am pleased to present to you the 2018 

Annual Report. It reflects UNI’s ongoing 

initiatives and sustained efforts during a 

period of unprecedented changes that are 

affecting all industries, and ours in particular. 

In an increasingly fast and digital world, our 

sector is facing a watershed moment that is 

pushing us to reinvent our profession,  

our tools and our way of distributing 

products and services.  

Robert Moreau, Chief Executive Officer

EVERYTHING IS CHANGING  
ALL THE TIME, AND IT’S  
CHANGING FASTER AND FASTER 
Before 1900, the collective knowledge  

of the world used to double every  

100 years. After the Second World War,  

it was every 25 years. In 2016, the time  

was assessed at every 13 months, and  

by 2035 it is predicted that global 

knowledge will double every 12 hours!

This reality is clearly influencing our 

industry and our members’ and clients’ 

behaviour. Successive technological 

revolutions are less and less predictable, 

but there is one thing we know for certain: 

the banking world will change. 

So now, more than ever, we have to prepare 

for the future by stepping up our efforts 

to modernize and optimize the delivery 

of our online, physical and telephone 

services. It is a responsibility and also an 

extraordinary opportunity: the chance 

to reinvent ourselves through a daring 

and agile business culture that will make 

intrapreneurship, experimentation and 

innovation the pillars of our growth. 

2018 reflects these lofty intentions. I am 

proud to present to you the 2018 results 

and the main achievements and outlooks 

that attest to the extraordinary vitality  

of our organization.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE IN 2018  
In this volatile financial world, especially 

in the last quarter of 2018, UNI stayed on 

course in terms of results and achievements 

by demonstrating great flexibility. 
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… we have to prepare for the future by stepping up our efforts to 
modernize and optimize the delivery of our online, physical and 
telephone services. It is a responsibility and also an extraordinary 
opportunity: the chance to reinvent ourselves through a daring 
and agile business culture that will make intrapreneurship, 
experimentation and innovation the pillars of our growth.

UNI’s assets hit the $4.2B mark, an increase 

of 5.5% compared to 2017. We posted 

surplus earnings before other items of  

$16.2M in 2018, slightly lower than  

the $17.3M posted in 2017. 

This market volatility was mitigated by 

unprecedented growth of over $92M in 

our out-of-province financing. UNI made 

good use of our move to a federal charter, 

proving our competitiveness beyond our 

provincial borders.

The loan portfolio, net of provisions, reached 

$3.3B in 2018, up $123M over 2017, for 

growth of 3.9%. In terms of our specific plan 

to promote entrepreneurship, we posted 

an increase of 8% or $89.1M in the business 

loan portfolio.

In light of the investments needed to 

advance our business practices, however, 

and due to capitalization requirements, 

UNI’s directors exercised caution and 

decided to pay only group dividends,  

not individual dividends.

We are still optimistic about the future, 

and in this changing world, UNI is taking 

initiatives to hold our own and continue to 

provide the best response to our members 

and clients’ emerging needs.

YOU’RE CHANGING,  
WE’RE CHANGING 
Our members and clients’ habits are 

evolving. They are turning their backs on 

our counters and embracing other means, 

including our online solutions. The use of 

our online services increased by over 6% in 

the last year alone. In some of our business 

locations, even the use of the banking 

machines has decreased significantly. 

Banking machines now account for just 

37% of our clients’ annual transactions.  

And this trend will inevitably continue. 

All these situations push us to take new 

initiatives to reinvent our physical, digital 

and telephone distribution networks, 

modernize our commercial tools and  

rally our employees around values  

and behaviours steeped in agility 

and engagement.

HERE ARE A FEW OF THE 
INITIATIVES LAUNCHED IN 2018
They attest to my determination to  

position UNI with the biggest economic 

players in our province.

 •  A major reflection is in order about 

talent management and initiatives to 

support our current employees and 

get closer to the needs of the next 

generations, whom we have to not 

only recruit but also retain in a job 

market that is more competitive  

than ever.   

 •  We are continuing our support 

for entrepreneurs with an offer of 

coaching during business transfer,  

a critical issue for the economic  

vitality of the Atlantic provinces. 
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Robert Moreau, Chief Executive Officer

 •   With the introduction of new business 

partnerships, we will soon offer 

members and investor clients access 

to a broader array of products to  

help grow their wealth.

 •   Sustained efforts have been  

made to enhance our business 

intelligence capacity. 

 •   We also overhauled the cooperative 

committees to improve their agility 

and effectiveness at supporting the 

communities. Our commitment is 

unflagging, and more than ever, we 

want to honour the people who get 

involved in our communities. 

Our ongoing initiatives and those we have 

completed are helping UNI adapt to the new 

market realities and above all ensuring that 

our members and clients get the coaching 

best suited to their financial needs.

FAITHFUL TO OUR PURPOSE
UNI is upholding our economic and social 

role for communities. This desire to be 

involved will keep growing as long as the 

members in our communities trust us. 

In 2018, we granted $2.6M in donations, 

sponsorships and scholarships. By 

giving ourselves the means to match our 

ambitions, we will increase our impact on 

meaningful, value-creating projects. I am 

proud to wear the colours of an institution 

that is cooperating to create a better future 

for the next generations.

TOGETHER, WE ARE THE CHANGE
In closing, I want to express my deep 

gratitude to the Board of Directors for their 

support during this unparalleled period 

of global economic change and local 

behavioural change. 

And I cannot fail to mention the importance 

of our staff, who demonstrate unfailing 

commitment, day after day. 

I want to warmly thank our members and 

clients for the support and trust they show 

us. We are proud to be the privileged 

witnesses and partners of their life projects. 

We are listening to their needs today and, 

believe me, we are already anticipating 

their future expectations by changing our 

business culture.

Because UNI has always known how to 

adapt. We will change again this year and 

every year thereafter. It’s in our DNA. We 

have the courage, the know-how and the 

energy to do it. 

Together, let’s change the future. 
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Our 2017-2019 Strategic Plan was 
developed taking into account the 
current reality of profound transformation 
within UNI, a financial institution that 
is determined to achieve its objectives 
while standing by its conviction that its 
employees are its greatest wealth. They 
are at the heart of our growth strategy. 
As an employer of choice, we want to 
establish a unified, effective culture and 
allow our distinction and organizational 
pride to shine through. We believe 
that the adaptability, development and 
mobilization of our employees help  
us to continually deliver UNI value.

To support and achieve our strategic goals 

for growth, performance and distinction, 

the Talent component of the  

Strategic Plan aims to:

•  Make a success of the new integrated 

organizational model adopted by the  

head office and our distribution 

network and subsidiaries, with a view to 

responding seamlessly and effectively  

to the needs of our internal and  

external members and clients;

•  Promote the development of our talent by 

improving the alignment of our employees’ 

profiles, behaviours and competencies 

to our members’ and clients’ needs and 

expectations while continuing to uphold 

our business objectives;

9 

OUR HUMAN CAPITAL |  
UNI FOCUSING 
ON TALENT 
DEVELOPMENT



ANNUAL REPORT 201810 

•  Create an employee experience  

that facilitates the attraction, retention 

and mobilization of employees by 

focusing on cohesion and communication 

efforts with all managers.

In 2018, the Vice-President, Talent 

Management, capitalized on a variety of 

strategies, such as training, performance 

management, streamlining administrative 

processes related to personnel and  

defining the employee experience.

TRAINING STRATEGY

The core of this strategy is to promote a 

learning culture, since learning contributes 

to more effective employee performance, 

employee commitment and retention, 

and professional growth, all of which are 

important factors for UNI’s growth. 

Our managers are the cornerstone of 

the employee experience. Equipped with 

the appropriate tools, they are better 

able to support their employees through 

the various changes required for the 

advancement of the institution. All the 

employees now have access to an online 

training platform to learn and advance 

their knowledge in several key areas. Their 

professional development is also advanced 

through their involvement in major 

transformation projects. A lot has been 

learned, contributing to the achievement  

of current and emerging business goals,  

for the benefit of our member clients. 

PERFORMANCE  
MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

Performance management is an effective 

conduit for dialogue between managers 

and their employees, strengthening the 

bond of trust between them.  

It is an opportunity to gain a better 

understanding of the employees, their 

skills, motivation, strengths, potential and 

need for recognition and development. To 

be effective, performance management 

cannot be based solely on figures and 

data. This is why UNI’s behaviours were 

developed and integrated in 2018. After 

a successful pilot run, UNI adopted a 

performance management tool, Halogen, 

which is accessible at head office and at 

UNI Business. The deployment of the tool 

will continue in 2019.        

STREAMLINING OF  
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESSES

A number of changes have improved 

the efficiency and accuracy of 

human resources management data. 

Standardization of salary payments, 

electronic time sheets, monitoring of staff 

movements, processing of annual salary 

increases and changes to staff policies are 

a few examples of the streamlining carried 

out in 2018. In order to improve information 

sharing, a quarterly Talent Management 

forum was set up to raise manager and 

employee awareness about a variety of 

current themes related to human resources.

Our human capital | Focusing on talent development



 UNI FINANCIAL COOPERATION 11 

DEFINITION OF THE  
EMPLOYEE EXPERIENCE

Employee mobilization is still in the 

spotlight, due to increasingly stiff 

competition to recruit human resources. 

We all understand the importance of 

differentiating the client experience, and at 

UNI, we believe that having open, courteous, 

attentive and proactive employees is a 

competitive advantage we can count on. 

That is why the employee experience and 

the client experience are two converging 

approaches: you can’t have one without the 

other. In 2018, the employee promise was 

clarified, and a team representing various 

levels of the institution is pursuing its work 

to redefine the employee lifecycle and  

align it with its vision.

At UNI, we continue to transform our 

approach, products and services in order 

to continue offering an outstanding client 

experience. Our employees remain at  

the centre of our evolution, growth, 

innovation and success.

Employee-focused initiatives  
and outcomes in 2018:

•  At 2018 year-end, we employed  

942 people in New Brunswick.  

UNI is proud to contribute to  

New Brunswick’s economic growth  

with a payroll of $65M.

•  Our managers hired for a total of  

348 new positions. Of this number,  

225 were filled by employees internally, 

and 123 – mainly entry-level and student 

positions – were filled by new employees. 

Another 13 employees retired from the 

organization. The streamlining projects 

contribute to this staff movement.

•  Courses on money laundering and IT 

security are mandatory for everyone. 

The employees are registered for these 

courses annually and must complete 

them within a certain time frame. The new 

employees who join the UNI team must 

also complete these courses. 

•  As planned in 2018, 50% of all employees 

completed a professional development 

course – White Belt (Introduction to the 

Lean philosophy and Six Sigma method).

•  Since its launch in December 2018,  

70% of employees have activated  

their LinkedIn Learning licence and  

a total of 182 employees have already 

completed the course.

•  A new Code of Ethics has been adopted, 

and improvements have been made 

to the electronic conflict of interest 

declaration process. All the employees 

now have an enhanced understanding 

of the Code of Ethics and there is more 

transparency in the potential conflicts  

of interest reported. Declaring conflicts  

of interest is now a proactive and ongoing 

process. The moment there is the 

potential for conflict, the employee must 

report to their manager, using  

the electronic process.

•  The institution also adopted an 

occupational health and safety (OHS) 

policy in 2018. The steering committee 

is in place; the structure of our regional 

committees and the training program 

have been completed.  

•  To support streamlining efforts, the  

Talent Management team helped 

introduce major changes to the 

streamlining projects for credit granting 

and administrative activities. These 

changes have allowed some employees  

to pursue interesting career tracks.

Our human capital | Focusing on talent development
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UNI FOCUSES ITS STRATEGY 
ON THE CLIENT 

The year 2018 marks the beginning of a 
profound reflection on our distribution 
network, backed by technology and by 
innovation projects.

INSPIRING, SUPPORTING, FINANCING and 

PROTECTING now require us to transform 

our approach in order to adapt to the new 

market realities and to consumer needs. ANALYZING AND IMPLEMENTING  
MAJOR INITIATIVES

The year 2018, which marks the midterm 

milestone in the 2017-2019 strategic plan, 

is the anchoring point that allowed the 

institution to begin analyzing its major 

transformation initiatives and continue to 

implement several foundation projects, 

which will help it continue to transform 

over the coming years.

More than ever, UNI remains grounded 

in its cooperative values, by supporting 

communities across its entire territory 

and remaining a flagship for the Acadian 

community. With this in mind, it must be 

renewed and transformed in order  

to fulfill and carry out its mission for  

future generations. 

CONTINUOUS TRANSFORMATION 
THROUGH LINES OF ACTION

UNI is driven by their vision of better 

responding to the changing habits of its 

members and clients, and is focused on 

initiatives that help implement new and 

transformational foundations. In 2018, 

several initiatives were developed and 

initiated with the goal of putting this desire 

for transformation into practice in order to 

renew itself and expand its horizons.

GROWTH

TALENT

EFFICIENCY

DISTINCTION

CLIENTS
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Talent 
development

Alignment and 
performance of the 
organizational model

5 6

Aligning the institution with  
the strategy and with employees

Performance management is a major lever for an 

organization, and an efficient means of dialogue 

between managers and its employees.

In 2018, UNI developed a financial management 

tool that helps the employee and their manager 

maintain a continuous connection between goals 

and achievements all year long.

TALENTS

Guaranteeing succession development

A cultural shift truly comes to life when it is 

reflected through common behaviours valued 

by all, on which each person is evaluated and 

recognized. In 2018, significant efforts were made 

to define and disseminate UNI behaviours. These 

behaviours define the actions and reactions 

expected of employees, which are essential to the 

success of the organization. Moreover, UNI has 

modernized its learning strategies to facilitate the 

employee’s access to training.

Employee experience is at the core of organization 

transformation, as it is a lever for commitment, 

retention and productivity. In 2018, the employee 

promise was clarified, and a team representing 

several levels within the institution also pursues 

its work on the employee experience in order 

to redefine it and anchor its vision of being an 

employer of choice.

GROWTH

Revenue 
growth

Diversification of 
revenue sources

1 2

Maintaining profitable growth of 
conventional revenue sources

We have explored and analyzed several 

diversification options and strategies in order to 

establish new areas for development and new 

revenue sources outside of our traditional sphere. 

Several of these initiatives have made significant 

progress, and will soon produce important 

conclusions, choices or levers for supporting 

the transformation and development of our 

foundation projects. 

Diversifying revenue sources beyond 
conventional boundaries

Several partnerships were developed, particularly 

with UNI Business, to promote the creation of 

new relationships of trust with partners of choice 

outside the province. These alliances will help us 

increase our revenue sources and contribute to 

diversifying our growth strategy. We have also 

concluded new agreements which allow us to 

offer our members and clients new wealth and 

asset management products and services. 
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Value for 
member/client

Bringing the UNI 
brand to life

7 8

Providing clients with real value  
and a quality experience

In 2018, we began a large revamping project to 

map out client experience through a detailed 

analysis of the experience and needs of our 

clients. This project was built around guiding 

principles that required us to examine our 

services through the eyes of our clients. For each 

point of contact with the client, we established 

three levers of experience: simplicity, attentive 

listening, and enjoyment. Over 40 initiatives were 

identified within the experiences we analyzed, 

initiatives we are currently evaluating for future 

execution. This is not an annual project, but rather 

a transversal operating mode where the client is 

at the core of all our efforts and our actions.

Bringing the UNI brand and its  
foundations to life within communities  
and the markets served

The redesign of our cooperative distinction 

was undertaken by the development of a UNI 

Community through our website. This section, 

dedicated to communities, demonstrates our desire 

to honour those involved in our local communities. 

We have also simplified our cooperative committees 

in order to provide the flexibility that communities 

need to succeed, reducing the number of 

cooperators from 108 to 36. These new committees, 

centred around measurable issues, will focus on 

creating economic, social and cultural values.

Our members and clients directly contribute to 

generating the wealth that feeds into these efforts, 

which are geared towards sustainable development 

on economic, social and cultural levels within our 

communities. A concrete example is our financial 

literacy program within which the legendary School 

Caisse is integrated. 

EFFICIENCY

Operational 
efficiency

Quality of 
information

3 4

Generating efficiency and optimization

The year 2018 helped us deeply reflect upon 

and analyze our distribution network to better 

understand the issues we face in order to support 

operational efficiency. These reflections confirm 

that UNI must pick up the pace and implement 

a major modernization project based on the 

experience it wishes to offer its clients. 

This transformation will inevitably involve a 

complete review of operations and procedures, 

in order to achieve maximum efficiency. Several 

potential solutions will be underway in 2019. 

Implementing tools and systems that 
provide access to quality information

The speed of changes in the financial and 

insurance field, combined with profitability and 

growth challenges, are critical to survival. In 2018, 

a detailed analysis was done in order to set down 

new business intelligence foundations. In fact, 

data and access to data are both the driving 

factor and the fuel for remaining agile in  

providing information essential for the 

development of new strategies that directly  

target the diverse needs of consumers. 

DISTINCTION
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In recent years, the UNI Business team has 

helped many entrepreneurs in business 

transfer projects, in all regions of New 

Brunswick. The team has extensive 

expertise in this field, in terms of both 

wealth management and the types of 

financing required. 

This year, UNI Business launched  

an integrated coaching offer and  

financing solutions to meet the needs  

of entrepreneurs transferring their  

business and those taking up the torch. 

“At UNI, decisions are made locally, with 

people from the region. They have a far 

better understanding of the applications 

and the reasoning behind the applications,” 

explained Dr. Joseph Savoie.

Thanks to these entrepreneurs and their  

staff for their invaluable contribution to  

the filming in October 2018.

Doctors Kevin Leblanc, Joseph Savoie and Jeoff Leblanc   
Champlain Dental Clinic, Dieppe
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UNI IS COMMITTED TO 
ENTREPRENEURS

UNI BUSINESS IS A UNIQUE DRIVER OF GROWTH ON THE 
CANADIAN BANKING LANDSCAPE BECAUSE IT AIMS TO  
ENSURE A PROSPEROUS AND RESPONSIBLE FUTURE  
FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF ITS COMMUNITIES.
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• Environmentally friendly.

•  Built on a bold, solid and controlled 

business development strategy.

•  Planned and controlled through  

simple, connected and affordable 

management tools.

INSPIRE, SUPPORT, FINANCE AND PROMOTE GROWTH TO  
CREATE ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND CULTURAL VALUE FOR  
LOCAL BUSINESSES AND INDIVIDUALS.

A REDESIGNED WEB SECTION
UNI.CA/BUSINESS

•  In line with the universal social values  

that our province champions.

•  Benefits both employers and employees.

•  Contributes to the well-being of 

communities throughout New Brunswick.

TOGETHER FOR REAL GROWTH
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Here are a few events UNI took part in:

UNI IS PRESENT

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL VIA   
THE SCHOOL CAISSE

Mr. Crapaud’s Tour | Kindergarten  

and 1st grade. Personalized show  

on financial literacy. 

SECONDARY 
SCHOOLS

Renewed partnership 

with the Fédération 

des jeunes 

francophones  

du NB (FJFNB).

TRAINING WORKSHOPS | FINANCIAL LITERACY
POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION 
INSTITUTIONS

Presence and kiosks at the beginning  

of the school year at Moncton University 

and Collège communautaire du NB.  

New partnerships with student 

associations in post-secondary institutions.

5,500 

student spectators 58school
visited

Budget, Credit, 
Methods of 
Payment, 
Estimating  
the Value of 
Goods, etc.

Universities, colleges  
and elementary and  
secondary schools.

30workshopsOver

Beresford Regional, Industrial 

and Commercial Exposition, and 

Campbellton Promotion Plus 

Commercial Fair

GREATER MONCTON HOME SHOW  
“$5,000 for Your Project” contest.

UNI is present
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NEW! AUTOMATED SERVICES

NOTIFICATIONS AND ALERTS;  
real-time useful information

DIRECT DEPOSIT BY CANADA 
REVENUE AGENCY

CUSTOMIZATION OF THE UNI 
APPLICATION; favourite accounts  

and revamped homepage

INTERAC FLASH ON  
DEBIT CARD;  
contactless payment

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING  
NB BLUEBERRIES – Moncton 

THE CO-OPERATORS  
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – Moncton

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
- NEW BRUNSWICK MAPLE SYRUP 
ASSOCIATION – Edmundston

PARTNERSHIP   

PLACE AUX COMPÉTENCES  
“Promoting entrepreneurship 

among elementary and college-

level students.” Presentation 

of awards to young deserving 

entrepreneurs.

ARTS ET BULLE - Dieppe

PARTNERSHIP WITH  
OPÉRATION  
NEZ ROUGE$75,000

6th EDITION  
UNI BUSINESS  
GOLF TOURNAMENT

Fundraising event for the Fondation 

des caisses populaires acadiennes 

PARTNERSHIP  
ASSOCIATION FRANCOPHONE  
DES AÎNÉS DU NB

UNI is present
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“ONLINE FINANCIAL SERVICES? MADE EASY”
UNI wants to help our members and 
clients make informed decisions by 
explaining the world of finance and 
helping them become savvy consumers. 
This goal can take shape at the tender age 
of five, with School Caisse, and continue 
throughout our clients financial lives.

We promote financial literacy in  

all our advertising campaigns  

and offer sound advice. 

It was with this in mind that, in 2018,  

UNI continued to produce simple, 

accessible, funny videos.

In this series, Acadian artist Matthieu  

Girard explains financial management  

in his own words and with his own sense  

of humour: RRSPs, TFSAs, mortgages  

and online financial services using  

the AccèsD virtual Caisse!

Acadian artist Matthieu GirardV
id

e
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s

UNI INVESTS IN 
FINANCIAL LITERACY
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Child

Teacher

Child

Teacher

Child

Teacher

Child

Teacher

UNI invests in financial literacy

A new “School Caisse” section offers financial 

education tools using videos to foster discussions 

about finances between parents and their children.

Introducing children to the value of money  
and sound financial management allows them  
to learn more about saving, where money  
comes from, payment methods, cooperative  
values and much more!

uni.ca/schoolcaisse
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Fostering the cooperative spirit

UNI COMMUNITY
INSPIRE, SUPPORT, FINANCE AND 
PROTECT RESPONSIBLE AND 
SUSTAINABLE CIVIC ACTIVITIES 
AND PROJECTS THAT CONTRIBUTE 
TO THE ATTRACTIVENESS AND  
WELL-BEING OF THE PROVINCE.

We also feel the responsibility to respond 

to the needs of communities and the 

mobilization of everyone who is creating 

social, economic, environmental and cultural 

value for the exclusive benefit of the citizens 

and business communities of New Brunswick.

FOSTERING
THE  
COOPERATIVE 
SPIRIT

22 

Geneviève Lalonde, Olympic athlete
Cooperative Distinction Spokesperson
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COOPERATIVE COMMITTEES 
THOSE COMMITTEES 
RESPOND TO THE 
SPECIFIC NEEDS OF  
EACH REGION 
AND OVERSEE 
THE SUCCESSFUL 
COMPLETION OF 
PROVINCIAL PROJECTS. 

Northeast Cooperative Committee

Northwest Cooperative 
Committee

Southeast Cooperative Committee

Roles

•  Organize and promote local projects that contribute 

to the creation of value for the community.

•  Contribute to the creation of responsible and 

sustainable projects in communities.

•  Partner with local citizens and stakeholders to plan 

and develop community projects that create value.

•  Represent the interests of members and non-

members who support our cooperative projects.

•  Manage and allocate budgets in the form  

of donations and sponsorships.

KASSIM DOUMBIA, 
PRESIDENT

ANDRÉ LECLERC, 
PRESIDENT

LUC J. SIROIS, 
PRESIDENT

JEANNE LANTEIGNE

VALÉRIE LAVOIE

JOSEPH LIONEL GAUDET

ROLLANDE DUGUAY

ALONZO BOUCHER

NORMAND ROBICHAUD

RAYMOND SIROIS

CAROLE LEBLANC

NANCY BUTLER-RIOUX,  
VICE-PRESIDENT

DIANE DESROSIERS,  
VICE-PRESIDENT

NICOLE THIBODEAU,  
VICE-PRESIDENT

ANDRÉ MORAIS 

NICOLE PLOURDE

ROSELINE PELLETIER

OCTAVE HACHÉ 
 

RONALD BOUDREAU

GASTON PAULIN

RÉJEAN MICHAUD

LOUISE RICHARD 
HARTLEY

DENIS PAULIN

RAYMOND BRYAR DENIS SAVOIE

JEAN-GUY THIBEAULT

CLARENCE VAUTOUR

BERTRAND BRIDEAU

MELVIN BLANCHETTE

CÉLINE DOUCET-
ROUSSELLE

Not pictured:
CHRISTINE LEVESQUE
CAROL SAVOIE
MANON GOULETTE

Not pictured:

DENISE LANDRY
JEAN LAMBERT
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FOR EVERY $100 INVESTED  
IN THE COMMUNITY IN 2018

THE ONLY 
ORGANIZATION 
ENTIRELY DEVOTED TO 
ACADIAN PROSPERITY

SPONSORSHIPS, DONATIONS  
AND SCHOLARSHIPS

UNI Financial Cooperation, naturally 

sensitive to the needs of the communities  

it serves, gave $2.6M to local  

organizations in 2018.

RETURNS TO THE COMMUNITY 

2016 2017 2018

$2.3M $2.3M $2.6M

HEALTH
Facilitating access to healthcare services 
and to research for a better quality of life

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Creating synergy with the business community

MUTUAL AID AND SOLIDARITY 
Supporting community and social development projects

EDUCATION AND YOUTH 
Contributing to the development of youth 

ARTS AND CULTURE 
Promoting the fostering of new talent 
and boosting the cultural industry

SPORTS AND RECREATION 
Contributing to community vitality 

$31

$21

$18

$13

$9

$8

UNI CREATES VALUE
UNI invests in communities. Each week, 

several thousand dollars are redistributed  

in donations, sponsorships and scholarships 

because we believe that the prosperity  

of some people must contribute to  

that of others.

In the last three years,  

UNI Financial Cooperation 

has given back over  

$7.2M in group dividends 

to communities.
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ENGAGED COMMUNITIES
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BEAUSÉJOUR FAMILY RESOURCES 
AND CRISIS CENTRE

The new Beauséjour Centre will increase  

its capacity, providing services to over  

5,000 people a year. 

Our contribution is supporting the  
creation of a reception area called  
the “UNI Welcome Reception.” 

INTERGENERATIONAL COMPLEX

The complex will include an indoor walking track,  

a community kitchen and community rooms. 

Our contribution is helping to build a place that 
will foster socio-economic, cultural, sports and 
community development in the region.

ACTION SANTÉ

Action Santé is an innovative prevention-

focused concept that advocates citizen 

health awareness through the community.

Our contribution supported this community 
initiative to offer physical fitness products 
and services in an unserved market.  

COOPÉRATIVE LA BARQUE

La Barque’s mission is to share spaces, 

tools and knowledge for the community 

of the Chaleur region, from the 

perspective of education and training.

Our contribution helped complete a 
major milestone, including renovations 
to create a community kitchen. 

DISCOVER MORE AT: UNI.CA/COMMUNITY

Engaged communities
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MANAGEMENT’S 
DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

 UNI FINANCIAL COOPERATION 27 Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis28 

NOTE TO THE READER
This management report offers the reader a general  
overview of UNI Financial Cooperation. It is a complement 
and supplement to the information provided in the combined 
financial statements of Caisse populaire acadienne. It must 
therefore be read together with the combined financial 
statements, including the accompanying notes for the  
year ended December 31, 2018.

This report also presents the results analysis and main 
modifications made to Caisse populaire acadienne’s  
balance sheet during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. 
Other information concerning UNI Financial Cooperation  
can be obtained from the website uni.ca.

EXTERNAL 
REPORTING 
CHANGES
On January 1, 2018, UNI adopted the new accounting 
standard IFRS 9. This new standard had an impact on the 
recognition of investment income and the allowances for 
expected credit losses. These impacts are described in  
Note 4 of the audited financial statements. To facilitate  
the analyses, the comparative information was reclassified 
to be consistent with the presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements for the year in question.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board of Directors

COMMITTEES

COMMITTEES

TERM

TERM

BRIAN L. COMEAU
DIRECTOR

•  Conduct Review  
& Governance

• Human Resources
• Risk Management

2017 – 2020

ROLAND T. CORMIER  
DIRECTOR

2017 – 2019

•  Audit
•  Board of Trustees, 

president
•  Human Resources, 

president

SÉBASTIEN DESCHÊNES,  
CFA, CPA, CA, ICD.D
DIRECTOR

2017 – 2020

• Audit
• Nomination
• Risk Management

GILLES GODIN  
DIRECTOR

2017 – 2019

•  Conduct Review & 
Governance, president

•  Performance Evaluation 
& Remuneration of the 
Chief Executive Officer

CAROLINE HACHÉ, MBA 
DIRECTOR

2018 – 2021

•  Conduct Review & 
Governance

•  Human Resources
•  Nomination

WANITA MCGRAW  
FCPA, CA, ICD.D  
DIRECTOR

2017 – 2020

•  Audit, president
• Nomination
•  Performance Evaluation 
•  Remuneration of the 

Chief Executive Officer
•  Risk Management 

DIANE PELLETIER 
DIRECTOR

2017 – 2020

•  Human Resources
•  Nomination, president
•  Risk Management 

LLOYD PLOURDE
DIRECTOR

2017 – 2019

•  Conduct Review & 
Governance

•  Human Resources
•  Performance Evaluation 

& Remuneration of the 
Chief Executive Officer

ALLAIN SANTERRE  
DIRECTOR

2018 – 2019

•  Audit
•  Board of Trustees
•  Performance Evaluation 

& Remuneration of the 
Chief Executive Officer

JEAN-FRANÇOIS SAUCIER 
M.SC., CPA, CA  
DIRECTOR

2018 – 2021

•  Audit
•  Conduct Review & 

Governance
•  Human Resources

PIERRE-MARCEL  
DESJARDINS, ICD.D 
PRESIDENT

2018 – 2021

•  Performance Evaluation 
& Remuneration of the 
Chief Executive Officer, 
president

GUY J. RICHARD, ICD, D  
VICE CHAIR

2018 – 2021

•  Audit
•  Board of Trustee
•  Nomination
•  Risk Management, 

president

AS OF MARCH 28, 2019
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ACADIA SERVICE CORPORATION

ACADIA FINANCIAL HOLDINGS

UNI Financial 
Cooperation operated 
in 51 business locations

• Acadia Service Centre

UNI Assurance
 • Acadia Life
 • Acadia General Insurance
 • AVie

• Fondation des caisses 
populaires acadiennes

• Conseil acadien  
de la coopération

Support Institutions

UNI Business  
operated in  
4 regional offices

Acadia Financial
Services

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

ROBERT MOREAU, FCPA, CGA, ICD.D 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

DIANE ALLAIN
VICE-PRESIDENT,  
TALENT MANAGEMENT
• Employee Experience

GILLES LANTEIGNE
VICE-PRESIDENT, 
SUBSIDIARIES AND EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR, ACADIA LIFE
• Life & Health Insurance
• General Insurance
• Sales Support

RENÉ COLLETTE
VICE-PRESIDENT, BUSINESS 
SOLUTIONS & PARTNERSHIPS
• Business Development

SYLVAIN FORTIER, CERA, ASA
CHIEF RISK OFFICER
• Compliance
• Credit

HERMEL CHIASSON
UNI COMMUNITY DIRECTOR

MARC-ANDRÉ COMEAU
VICE-PRESIDENT, PERSONAL 
SOLUTIONS
•  Personal Development
• Sales Support
• Wealth Management

ÉRIC ST-PIERRE, CPA, CMA
VICE-PRESIDENT, FINANCE
• Accounting
• Treasury

MARTIN PARÉ
VICE-PRESIDENT, MARKETING  
& CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE
•  C.E. and Digital Channel
•    Supply Management  

& Business Intelligence 

DERRICK SMITH
VICE-PRESIDENT, OPERATIONS  
& OPTIMIZATION
•  Customer Service &  

Continuous Improvement
• Information Technology
• Projects Management Office 
• Supply & Building 

MEMBERS AND CLIENTS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AS OF MARCH 28, 2019
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FINANCIAL SITUATION 
($ thousand and %)

Financial results as of December 31, 2018

FINANCIAL RESULTS  
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018

2018 2017

Profitability and productivity

Productivity index 85.0% 81,0%

Surplus earnings before other items $16,238 $17,325

Equity $412,179  $398,527

Return of equity 3.5% 1.1%

Business Development

Assets $4,221,180 $4,000,078

Business volume $7.3B$ $7.0B

Business volume growth 4.3% 6.5%

Risk

Credit losses $5,651 $ $6,515
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ECONOMIC AND  
FINANCIAL OUTLOOK
UNITED STATES

According to IMF estimates, the growth in 

the US gross domestic product should be 

less than 3%. The Federal Reserve raised  

its federal funds rate four times in 2018,  

from 1.50% at the start of the year to  

2.50% by mid-December. 

The US President currently dominates the 

news in the United States more than any 

other before him. The midterm elections 

lost him the House of Representatives, 

however, although the Senate maintained its 

Republican majority. In June, the President 

placed a 10% tax on Canadian aluminum  

and 25% on Canadian steel.        

CANADA

Canada hosted the G7 in 2018. The meeting, 

in the Charlevoix region of Québec, which 

was marked by the hasty departure of the 

US President for South Korea, focused on 

economic development, the protection  

of the oceans, the defence of democracy  

and gender equality.  

In October, marijuana was legalized in 

Canada. After months of preparations in 

terms of legislation and regulation, marketing, 

education and communications, the Trudeau 

government’s project was launched.    

In November, Canada signed a new trade 

agreement with the United States and 

Mexico. The three countries had been  

bound by the North American Free  

Trade Agreement (NAFTA) since 1994.  

Canada’s GDP rose 2.0% over the previous 

year. Household spending continued to 

support the country’s economic growth, 

but household debt levels, combined with 

increases in the Bank of Canada rate and the 

declining price of oil, may inhibit growth. The 

Bank of Canada hiked its benchmark interest 

rate by 25 basis points three times in 2018, 

bringing it up to 2% in October 2018.

Changes in Canadian dollar versus U.S. dollar, 2010-2018
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Changes in Bank Rate, 2014-2018
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The Canadian dollar embarked on a downward 

trend in 2018. After reaching a three-year 

peak of $0.81 in February 2018, it fluctuated 

downward, ending the year at $0.73.
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NEW BRUNSWICK

New Brunswick had a most unusual election 

in 2018, with the Lieutenant-Governor 

offering the outgoing government the 

chance to take power with 21 seats, while 

Blaine Higgs’s Progressive Conservatives, 

although in the minority, took 22 seats. 

After an attempt by the Liberals to earn the 

confidence of the House, the Progressive 

Conservatives ended being left with  

the reins of power. 

New Brunswick’s GDP grew by an estimated 

1.1% in 2018. Although retail trade only 

expanded by 1.3% in 2018 compared to 6.8% 

in 2017, a country-wide downturn has been 

observed since the growth of retail trade 

was posted at 2.7% for the same period, 

that is, 7.1% in 2017 (according to the latest 

seasonally adjusted data). Inflation was 

slightly lower than the national average,  

with the consumer price index at 2.1% in  

New Brunswick versus 2.3% for Canada as 

a whole. Housing starts were at the same 

Economic and Financial Outlook

level as 2017 in the province, while on the 

national scale, there was a decrease of  

3.1%. Provincial exports increased by  

1.8% (January to December). The United 

States is New Brunswick’s main international 

trade partner, absorbing 91% of exports.  

The employment rate increased slightly,  

by 0.3%. Unemployment rates declined 

slightly, from 8.1% to 8.0%. Despite  

1,600 new jobs, the northeast still had  

the highest unemployment rate, at  

12.4%. Employment rates stayed the same  

in the northwest. This situation, combined 

with a 1.5% drop in the participation rate, 

drove the unemployment rate down by  

1.0%. The southeast also saw 1,600 new jobs 

in 2018, allowing its unemployment rate to 

drop from 7.1% in 2017 to 6.8% in 2018.

Unemployment (%) Jobs (000s)

2017 2018 2017 2018

Northwest 7.4 6.4 36.5 36.5

Northeast 13.5 12.4 60.8 62.4

Southeast 7.1 6.8 106.0 107.5

Southwest 6.6 7.0 83.4 81.8

Centre 6.3 7.5               65.4 65.5

New Brunswick                8.1    8.0             352.1 353.7

Source: Statistics Canada
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REVIEW OF  
FINANCIAL RESULTS 
SURPLUS EARNINGS IN 2018
UNI’s surplus before other items at 

December 31, 2018, was $16.2M. This 

outcome is comparable to 2017, when it 

was $17.3M using IFRS 9 on both years.  

The analysis of this outcome is presented  

in greater detail in the table below. 

Review of Financial Results

2018 2017

Life and Health 
Insurance

$10,038   $9,700 

Individual and 
Business

6,200        7,625

Surplus earnings 
before other items

$16,238 $17,325 

($ thousand)

More specifically, the profitability of 

operations in the personal and business 

sectors declined by $1.4M to stand 

at $6.2M, compared to $7.6M in 2017. 

This reduction stems mainly from the 

underperformance of Other income,  

which declined by $1.5M. 

In 2018, the life and health insurance sector 

contributed $10.0M to surplus earnings 

compared to $9.7M in 2017. 

At December 31, 2018, surplus earnings 

before other items of $16.2M were 

recorded, while net surplus earnings 

totalled $14.3M. This difference is due to 

other items and 2018 taxes. Other items 

consist of a change in the market value of 

our derivatives. In 2018, the change in the 

market value of our derivatives generated 

a gain of $3.7M. This increase in value 

arose mainly from changes in interest rates 

and the amortization of the appreciation 

of the interest rate swap portfolio. As 

for income taxes, we have an expense of 

$5.7M in 2018, representing about 29% of 

our surplus before income taxes. 

UNI’s administrators took a cautious 

approach for the year ended December 31, 

2018, due to capitalization requirements, 

and decided not to pay out individual 

dividends to members this year.  

  Life and Health Insurance   Personal and Business 

2016 2017 2018
-

$5,000
$10,000
$15,000
$20,000

$6,657 $7,625 $6,200

$7,504 $9,700 $10,038

CONTRIBUTION TO SURPLUS  
BY LINE OF BUSINESS EXCLUDING  
COLLECTIVE MERGER FEES

($ thousand)
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NET FINANCIAL INCOME
Net financial income corresponds to the 

difference between the financial income 

earned on assets, such as loans and 

securities, and the financial expenses 

associated with liability components,  

such as deposits and borrowings. 

Net financial income totalled $96.7M at 

2018 year-end, which represents a $12.6M 

decrease compared to 2017, when it stood 

at $109.3M. This change can be explained 

mainly by the change in the market value 

of Acadia Life’s investments (–$18.4M), 

comprised principally of long-term bonds  

to match actuarial reserves.

Review of Financial Results

To facilitate deeper analysis, the table  

on the next page sets out changes  

in net financial income based on major  

asset and liability categories. 

FINANCIAL INCOME

Financial income totalled $133.7M in 2018, 

down $9.5M from the previous fiscal year. 

Financial income is made up of $5.8M in 

revenue on cash assets and investments and 

$127.9M in revenue on the loan portfolio. 

Cash assets and investments

Income on cash assets and securities 

decreased by $16.5M, from $22.3M in  

2017 to $5.8M in 2018. 

This decline stems from the decrease in  

the market value of our bond portfolios  

due to the rise in interest rates in 2018. 

While Acadia Life’s investment portfolio is 

smaller than UNI’s, it includes bonds with 

a longer duration, to match the actuarial 

reserves. We therefore experienced an 

inverse movement of the same scale  

on the change in the actuarial reserves.  

We nevertheless saw growth of over  

$2.0M on our investment income, excluding 

changes in fair market value.

INVESTMENT INCOME

2018 2017 Variation

Investment income from interest  
and dividends $16,321 $14,253  $2,068

Market value of investment  
gains (losses) — UNI (3,722) (3,642) (80)

Market value of investment  
gains (losses) — Acadia Life (6,746) 11,662 (18,408)

Total investment income $5,853  $22,273 $(16,420) 

($ thousand) 
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Loans

Interest income from UNI’s loan portfolio 

increased by $6.9M over 2017. Interest 

income from loans totalled $127.9M in 2018, 

up from $121.0M in 2017. This performance 

was due mainly to the growth of UNI’s loan 

portfolio as well as the three increases in 

the Bank of Canada prime rate in 2018. 

Meanwhile, the increase in the mortgage 

portfolio was more modest, with growth  

of $35.8M. UNI still managed to increase  

its market share, which reveals the 

weakness of the mortgage market  

in New Brunswick in 2018.

This income growth was below our 

expectations, and efforts will be increased  

to enhance and diversify UNI’s income.

Review of Financial Results

FINANCIAL EXPENSE

Financial expenses totalled $37.0M, an 

increase of $3.1M compared to 2017.  

These expenses include interest charges  

of $34.7M on the deposit portfolio and  

$2.3M on money borrowed from  

other institutions.  

Deposits

The interest expense on member and client 

deposits went from $32.3M in 2017 to  

$34.7M in 2018. The stability of the 

average rate on the deposit portfolio can 

be attributed to the popularity of the 

“Enhanced Investment Account” product 

which offers a lower rate than conventional 

term savings, but greater flexibility 

(cashable at any time). Our pricing is still 

competitive, which results in constant 

growth in this deposit portfolio. The increase 

in the interest expense stems principally 

from the increase in the deposit portfolio.

Borrowing

Interest expenses associated with borrowed 

monies rose by $0.7M from $1.6M in 2017 to 

$2.3M in 2018. This increase arises simply 

from UNI’s securitization spread over a 

five-year period (2014 to 2019). After 2019, 

we expect relative stabilization in our 

securitization level.
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2018 2017

Average 
balance

Interest
Average 

rate
Average 
balance

Interest
Average 

rate

Assets

Interest-bearing assets

Cash and securities $739,729  $5,852 0.8% $723,237 $22,273 3.1%

Loans 3,271,279 127,865 3.9% 3,099,211 120,951 3.9%

Total interest-bearing assets 4,011,008    133,717    3.3% 3,822,447 143,224 3.7%

Other assets 99,572      99,623  

Total assets $4,110,580    $133,717    3.3% $3,922,070 $143,224 3.7%

   

Liabilities and equity     

Interest-bearing liabilities     

Deposits $3,335,441    $34,689    1% $3,195,425 $32,280 1%

Borrowings 105,802    2,334    2.2% 76,358 1,636 2.1%

Total interest-bearing liabilities 3,441,243 37,023    1.1% 3,271,782 33,916 1%

Other liabilities 264,033   253,977  

Equity 405,304   396,312  

Total liability and equity $4,110,580     $37,023 0.9% $3,922,070 $33,916 0.9%

Net financial income  $96,694 2.4% $109,308 2.8%

NET FINANCIAL INCOME ON AVERAGE ASSETS AND LIABILITY 

($ thousand)

2018 2017 2016

Deposits and payment services charges            $17,426       $18,241            $19,873    

Net insurance and annuity premiums            18,709    18,990            18,503    

Commissions            12,925    11,679              10,602    

Lending fees               —          1,267              1,390    

Foreign exchange income                  744    830                  1,052    

Sales of related services              2,713    2,813              2,901    

Other income              1,795    1,969 $                        2,729    

Other extraordinary income  
due to the collective merger                     —       —        $1,935

Total other operating income            $54,312     $55,789 $58,985 

OTHER INCOME

Other income came from multiple sources as shown in the following table. 

($ thousand)

Review of Financial Results
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Income from service fees on deposits 

and payments declined again in 2018. 

The main reason for this decrease was 

changes made to the timing of fee billing 

for items returned non-sufficient funds. 

Effective mid-2017, this fee was charged 

to clients only subsequent to the clearing 

process. Furthermore, transaction volumes 

at the counters and banking machines are 

declining year after year.

Commission income continues to climb on 

the sale of credit cards, mutual investment 

funds and insurance products. This increase 

in commission income is the result of 

business volume growth in these products.

Also, for 2018, we reorganized our loan 

granting service at the business locations. 

This income used to be charged by a UNI 

subsidiary. Now the service is administered 

by UNI directly, and there is no longer any 

income collected to establish a credit report. 

This reduction in income is offset by a 

reduction in our fees on loans, recognized as 

an adjustment of interest income.

During the 2016 fiscal year, $1.9M in deferred 

contribution income on the merger of the 

Caisses with their Fédération was recognized 

in full in the income statement. Originally, 

the Fédération collected this contribution 

from the Caisses for various information 

technology development projects. 

PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The provision for credit losses totalled  

$5.7M, a $0.8M decrease from 2017. Since 

January 1, 2018, the allowance for credit 

losses has been calculated using the new 

accounting standard IFRS 9. This replaces 

IAS 39 and entails new requirements 

concerning the classification and evaluation 

of financial instruments and the depreciation 

of financial instruments. The new standard is 

based on information about expected credit 

losses (forward-looking information). With 

this new standard, our loan portfolios are 

segmented into three separate phases, based 

on risk trends. Phases 1 and 2 are assigned 

different default probabilities based on risk, 

and Phase 3 is calculated in the same way  

as the former individual allowances. 

For Phase 1 and 2 loans, the allowance 

expense was $0.5M for 2018, while in 

2017, the collective allowance generated a 

recovery of $1.4M. The expense associated 

with Phases 1 and 2 under IFRS 9 is more 

volatile than the standard in effect before 

2018. The allowances on Phase 1 loans are 

calculated on a default probability over 

12 months, and for those in Phase 2, the 

default probability is over the lifetime of 

the loan. This means that the movement 

of loans between Phase 1 and Phase 2, 

stemming from changes in the borrowers’ 

risk profiles, can cause the allowance  

to fluctuate significantly.

The expense for allowances and credit 

losses stemming from Phase 3 loans was 

$5.2M on December 31, 2018, compared to 

$7.9M in 2017 for individual allowances. This 

reduction can be explained by a decrease 

in losses on conditional sales contracts, 

mortgage loans and loans to businesses.

Review of Financial Results
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OPERATING EXPENSES

SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
($ thousand)

72,000

70,000

68,000

66,000

64,000

62,000

60,000

58,000
2016 2017 2018

Total operating expenses increased by 

about $3.0M in comparison to the previous 

year. Two major factors are behind this 

increase. First, even though UNI distributes 

about $2.3M each year in donations and 

sponsorships, a change in accounting 

2018 2017 2016

Employee travel, training and wellness $3,084 $ $3,338 $ $3,691 $

Professional fees 5,206 4,915 4,256

IT costs and telecommunications 22,208 21,720 21,212

Building and equipment rental and maintenance 12,790 12,088 10,517

Cash management and compensation 1,972 2,011 1,849

Regulatory fees and membership fee 2,348 2,092 1,988

Advertising, sponsorships,  
donations and scholarships

4,697 2,608 6,678

Office expenses and postage 2,232 2,440 2,379

Governance 938 1,178 782

Insurance 1,066 1,001 1,627

Other 3,080 3,296 2,121

$59,620 $ $56,687 $ $57,100 $

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

The following table provides a breakdown of our operating expenses.

($ thousand)

operations created an increase of $2.2M in 

this expense in 2018. Second, UNI decided 

to invest more in updating the IT systems 

and infrastructures, as well as improving the 

customer experience. This mainly affected 

professional fees, computer costs and 

maintenance and depreciation costs. 

Since UNi is a service-based corporation, 

its payroll is its largest expense. Expenses 

related to employee wages and benefits 

increased by $2.4M to $65.2M in 2018.  

This increase can be explained by annual 

salary increases and new hiring to fill  

vacant positions and deploy a new 

organizational structure.

For a few years now, UNI has been making 

considerable efforts to control our salary 

and employee benefit expenses, principally 

by changing our organizational structure. 

The banking sector is changing rapidly, and 

we are striving to remain competitive while 

modernizing the range of products and 

services we offer our members. To remain 

relevant, UNI has to simplify these activities 

in order to maintain quality member and 

client service and still manage its payroll.

Review of Financial Results
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LIFE AND HEALTH 
INSURANCE

NET EARNINGS BEFORE DISTRIBUTIONS, 
BONUSES AND TAXES

($ thousand)

LIFE INSURANCE INCOME

($ thousand)

Acadia Life and AVie subsidiaries make 

up this line of business and contribute 

significantly to UNI’s comprehensive income.

The operating results of this business 

sector were positive in 2018, surpassing 

budgeted net profit by approximately $1.3M 

to reach $10.4M, versus $9.7M in 2017. This 

represents growth of 0.7% or $0.7M. These 

strong results can be explained by expenses 

and claims that were lower than expected. 

2018 2017 Variation

Income from premiums $18,709 $ $18,990 $ $(281) $

Investment income from interest and dividends 6,378 6,630 (252)

Market value of investment gains (losses) (6,746) 11,662 (18,408)

Total income 18,341 37,282 (18,941)

Insurance benefits and changes  
in actuarial reserves $4,252 $ $21,820 $ $17,568 $

$7,474 

$9,700

$10,038 

2016

2017

2018

The largest component, however, was the 

revision of certain actuarial assumptions 

resulting in the freeing of $1.5M in reserves 

in 2018, versus a $1.8M increase in reserves 

in 2017. For example, expense assumptions 

for group life and health product were 

adjusted downward.

For the year, total personal life insurance 

premiums collected were $10.5M, an 

increase of $0.2M compared to 2017.  

Group life insurance premiums collected 

declined by $0.4M to reach $7.7M. There 

was also a reduction in premiums for 

disability insurance on mortgage loans,  

in the amount of about $0.1M.

The table below presents the main 

sources of income for Acadia Life, as well 

as the change in the actuarial reserves. 

It reveals that the reduction in income is 

counterbalanced by a reduction in the 

insurance benefit expense and the  

change in actuarial reserves.

Review of Financial Results
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BALANCE SHEET REVIEW

Balance Sheet Review

2018 2017

Asset

Cash           $198,146 $    4.7%            $100,193 $    2.5%

Securities         593,471 14.1%            587,776    14.7%

Loans      3,307,336    78.4%         3,184,700    79.6%

Other assets         122,227    2.9%            127,409    3.2%

Total assets     $4,221,180 $    100.0%        $4,000,078 $    100.0%

    

Liabilities and equity     

Deposits        $3,415,339 $    80.9%        $3,255,542 $    81.4%

Borrowings            125,291    3.0%              86,314    2.2%

Other liabilities            268,371    6.3%            259,695    6.5%

Equity            412,179 9.8%            398,527    10.0%

Total liabilities and equity        $4,221,180 $ 100.0%        $4,000,078 $  100.0%

SUMMARY BALANCE SHEET  
($ thousand)

BALANCE SHEET EVOLUTION

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

ASSETS DEPOSITS LOANS

($
 bi

lli
on

s)

4.4

3.9

3.4

2.9

2.4

TOTAL ASSETS
At December 31, 2018, UNI’s total assets 

were $4.2B, representing an increase of 

$221.0M or 5.5% over 2017. This growth is 

greater than in the previous year and can 

be explained by a significant increase in 

cash assets (+$103.5M) and strong growth 

in business loans (+$90.4M). Personal 

loans grew more timidly (+$33.7M),  

mainly because of the cooling mortgage 

market and aggressive competition  

for personal loans.
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LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT
The objective of liquidity risk management 

is to guarantee that the organization 

will have timely and profitable access to 

the funds necessary to fulfil its financial 

commitments when they become payable, 

in both normal and crisis situations. 

Managing this risk means maintaining 

an acceptable level of liquid securities, a 

three-year financing plan, liquidity crisis 

simulation, real-time liquidity position 

management and the submission of 

quarterly accountability reports to UNI’s 

Board of Directors. This reporting process 

is supported by a policy on liquidity risk 

management and an investment policy, 

both of which are reviewed annually  

by the Board. 

Daily monitoring of this liquidity position 

ensures that UNI maintains adequate 

liquidity over the short term, while 

adherence to a financing plan also  

enables the organization to anticipate its 

long-term liquidity requirements. 

We follow a conservative approach with 

regard to the determination of minimum 

liquidity levels. For example, our short-term 

liquidity ratio stood at 217% on December 

31, 2018, while the minimum level prescribed 

by the Office of the Superintendent of 

Financial Institutions (OSFI) is 100%.  

We also periodically review our  

investment strategy to maximize  

the return on our liquidity.

During the 2018 fiscal year, UNI’s  

liquidity increased by $103.6M. The 

principal variations are explained in  

the following paragraphs.

UNI’s operating activities have generated a 

net cash inflow of $82M. This is mainly due 

to the growth in the loan portfolio, which 

was lower than that of the deposit portfolio. 

So, in 2018, the new deposits from clients 

generated a cash inflow of $159.8M, while 

the loan portfolio growth resulted in a cash 

outflow of $124.1M.

During the fiscal year, UNI took out new 

loans through a loan securitization program 

in addition to repaying other securitization 

loans. Overall, these transactions generated 

a net cash inflow of $19.7M.

LOANS
The loan portfolio, net of provisions, 

continued to grow in 2018, reaching  

$3.3B on December 31, 2018. Compared 

to 2017, this portfolio increased by $122M, 

or 3.9%. The personal credit portfolio 

performed less well in 2018, mainly due 

to the slower mortgage market. The 

business sector performed better, because 

it benefited from the out-of-province 

partnerships that have become possible 

thanks to UNI’s switch to federal regulation. 

LOANS NET OF PROVISIONS

($ million)

$2,965

$3,185

$3,307

2016

2017

2018
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The following table presents the breakdown of the loan portfolio among the various lines of business.

2018 2017 2016

Personal   

Residential mortgages $1,653,496 $         $1,617,658 $             $1,540,181 $    

Consumer and other 525,286          526,132                492,095    

Total personal 2,178,782      2,143,790          2,032,276    

Business   

Real estate 445,462          378,084                302,548    

Health care and related services 142,157          140,702                160,284    

Construction 55,205            82,232                  92,106    

Forestry 37,460            42,934                  57,395    

Fishing and trapping 73,319            61,617                  53,103    

Retail 54,655            54,186                  50,630    

Manufacturing 52,671            48,126                  41,908    

Accommodation and food 84,539            65,994                  36,723    

Transportation and warehousing 35,161            37,500                  28,788    

Other 173,917          154,065                133,430    

Total business 1,154,546      1,065,440                956,915    

 3,333,328      3,209,230             2,989,191    

Allowance by credit losses (25,992)          (24,530)                (24,009)   

Total loans by category of borrowers $3,307,336 $      $3,184,700 $            $2,965,182 $ 

($ thousand)

RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES
Growth in the residential mortgage portfolio 

was tepid. In 2018, we saw growth of 

$35.8M, compared to $77.5M in 2017. The 

low growth can be attributed to the slowing 

New Brunswick mortgage market. UNI 

nevertheless increased our market share in 

these difficult economic circumstances. The 

total mortgage portfolio before provisions 

stood at $1.653B on December 31, 2018, 

versus $1.618B on December 31, 2017.  

This corresponds to growth of 2.2%.

CONSUMER LOANS AND OTHER 
PERSONAL LOANS
This loan portfolio remained stable in 2018, 

compared to an increase of $34.0M in 2017. 

The stability can be explained by aggressive 

competition for financing at business 

locations. A new strategy was rolled out  

in fourth quarter 2018 that seems to be 

showing encouraging signs for 2019.  

Balance Sheet Review
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BUSINESS LOANS
The business loan portfolio once again 

offered impressive growth in 2018, totalling 

$1.154B overall on December 31, 2018, 

compared to $1.065B in 2017. This represents 

growth of 8.3%. The strongest growth was 

noted in real estate and the accommodation 

and food services sectors, along with fishing 

and trapping. The creation of out-of-province 

partnerships was the key to this strong 

growth in 2018.

DEPOSITS   
($ million) 

The deposit portfolio grew significantly  

again this year, at 4.9%, or an increase  

of $159M compared to 2017, bringing  

the deposit portfolio to $3.4B. The  

sound state of the fishery sector was  

a key factor in this growth.

2018

2016

2017

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

GOVERNANCE
UNI recognizes the importance of  

capital management. A series of 

components are in place for a healthy 

management process, including:

•  Annual review of the policy on capital risk 

management by the Board of Directors

•  Production of annual internal controls  

to assess capital adequacy

•  Submission of quarterly accountability 

reports to the Board of Directors on 

capital risk management

•  Monthly monitoring of various  

capital indicators

•  Annual three-year capitalization  

plan, updated quarterly, to ensure  

the long-term capital adequacy

$ 3,256

$ 3,415

$ 3,135

Balance Sheet Review
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2018 2017 Variation

Shares $4,367 $ $4,426 $  ($59)

Retained earnings 407,812 394,098 13,714

Capital stock value 412,179 398,524 13,655

Deductions   

Significant common shares of  
financial institution 12,574 6,629 5,945

Software 12,399 9,302 3,097

Future tax assets 8,386 0 8,386

Other 841 941 (100)

Regulatory capital (CET1) $377,878 $ $382,052 $ ($3,773)

Risk-weighted assets 2,257,627 2,098,009 159,618

CET1 risk assets capital ratio 16.7% 18.2% (1.5)%

Total risk assets capital ratio 17.3% 18.2% (0.9)%

($ thousand and %)

Balance Sheet Review

UNI uses two ratios to ensure the  

sufficiency of its threshold:

Capital to at-risk assets ratio

This ratio assesses risk-adjusted capital 

adequacy. The OSFI Capital Adequacy 

Requirements guideline also prescribes a 

minimum ratio in this regard for financial 

institutions. UNI easily achieves this 

minimum and, indeed, compares favourably 

to other large Canadian banks. Our capital 

is also mainly made up of shares and 

retained earnings, which are considered  

the highest quality of capital there is.
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2018 2017 Variation

Regulatory Capital

 CET1 $377,878 382,052 ($4,174)

Risk-adjusted assets  $4,140,794 3,895,478 $245,316

Leverage Ratio 9.1% 9.8% (0.7)%

OFF-BALANCE SHEET 
ARRANGEMENTS
In the normal course of its business, UNI 

manages investment portfolios for many of 

its members. Through its business locations, 

members can deposit their savings in 

investment funds. This savings portfolio 

represents off-balance sheet arrangements. 

The value of our portfolio of investment 

funds under management was $536.0M on 

December 31, 2018. This represents growth 

of $16.0M compared to 2017, when the 

portfolio was valued at $520.0M. Thanks to 

major growth potential in the management 

of investment funds in New Brunswick, 

this line of business has been growing 

significantly over the past few years.  

This is part of the diversification of our 

product offerings to members. 

UNI also offers members a range of credit 

instruments to satisfy their financing 

needs. These instruments include credit 

commitments and letters of guarantee.  

At December 31, 2018, these off-balance 

sheet credit instruments totalled  

$797.0M, an increase of $50.0M over  

2017, when they stood at $747.0M.

Balance Sheet Review

Leverage ratio

OSFI’s Leverage Requirements guideline 

requires compliance with a second capital 

ratio, the leverage ratio. Capital must 

represent at least 3% of non-risk-adjusted 

assets. Once again, UNI complies with 

OSFI’s requirements, with a ratio of 9.1%.



ANNUAL REPORT 201848 

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk Management

UNI has a risk management oversight 

function which reports to the Chief 

Risk Officer. The CRO oversees the 

implementation of a risk management 

framework for UNI and its subsidiaries 

to ensure compliance with requirements 

established by OSFI and other  

regulatory authorities. 

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The risk management framework is 

conservative, complete, efficient and 

consistent throughout the organization. 

It covers all UNI and subsidiary activities 

by establishing a global and coordinated 

approach to integrated risk management. 

The compliance management framework is 

part of the risk management framework.  

This framework is based on a strict, formal 

and dynamic governance structure and a 

transparent risk culture aimed at guiding 

business development and supervising 

and controlling risks throughout the 

organization. In addition to governance  

and culture, risk management includes  

a series of processes.
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RISK MANAGEMENT CYCLE

IDENTIFY  EVALUATE AND MEASURE  MANAGE   CONTROL  FOLLOW

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND TAXONOMY

COMMON RISK INFRASTRUCTURE

PEOPLE • PROCESS • TOOLS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
AND OVERSIGHT FUNCTIONS

THREE LINES OF DEFENCE

BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS  
AND COMMITTEES

• Policies and mandates of  
committees and oversight functions

• Risk Management Committee

• Risk appetite and tolerance 

• Risk culture and general guidelines

• Guidelines

• Accountability

• Risk management process

• Procedures

• Expertise and training

• Communication

• Internal controls

• Data and tool availability
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GOVERNANCE
UNI’s risk management framework is 

supported by a governance structure 

aligned with its organizational context. 

The Board of Directors has a risk 

management committee in place along 

with a number of other committees 

to oversee the organization’s specific 

activities and the associated risks. It also 

makes use of oversight functions such as 

risk management, compliance, finances, 

internal audit and credit in the day-to-day 

monitoring of the organization’s risks.

The Board of Directors expresses its risk 

orientations through the Risk-Taking 

Propensity Framework (RTPF). UNI 

manages risk by adopting three lines of 

defence to provide the Board of Directors 

and the Executive Committee assurance 

that all risks remain within the tolerance 

levels set out in the RTPF. This framework 

determines the appetite, tolerance and 

nature of risks that UNI is willing to accept 

in targeting its strategic and business 

objectives. Risk appetite and tolerance 

must be determined within UNI’s capacity 

for risks. The risk management oversight 

function provides day-to-day coordination 

of the framework in accordance with the 

orientations of the Board of Directors. UNI 

continues to improve the efficiency of its 

three lines of defence in order to guarantee 

a truly efficient risk governance system 

tailored to the needs of the organization 

and the strict requirements of the industry. 

RISK CULTURE: “RISK IS 
EVERYBODY’S BUSINESS”
The Board of Directors promotes a  

balanced risk-taking approach offering 

adequate return on equity to maintain a  

high level of capital while remaining 

competitive and not eroding the collective 

objectives of its client members or 

communities. The spirit of its risk culture  

is based on the following characteristics:

•  Rigorous, formal, proactive, dynamic  

and comprehensive risk management;

•  Transparent communication;

•  Empowerment of one and all,  

and clear accountability;

•  Common language;

•  A clear vision of risk appetite  

and risk tolerance;

•  Risk management as an integral  

part of strategies;

•  A Board of Directors that is actively 

committed to risk governance  

and sets the pace;

•  An Executive Committee that implements 

the policies approved by the Board of 

Directors and leads by example;

•  An appropriate structure and  

allocation of the necessary resources  

to daily risk management;

•  Proper division of labour within a rigorous 

process based on use of the three lines of 

defence;

•  A compensation system that promotes 

sound risk management.
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RISK-TAKING 
PROPENSITY 
FRAMEWORK

A successful and rigorous risk culture can be 

defined by the use of a common language. 

Being able to categorize risks and consistently 

and cohesively define them across the 

organization significantly contributes to  

daily risk management. UNI classifies its  

risks under ten categories. Operational  

risk, due to its disparate nature, has  

ten additional subcategories.  

RISK APPETITE (OBJECTIVES)  
Corresponds to UNI’s target level or the  

level it wishes to maintain in order to  

achieve its strategic and business goals.     

RISK TOLERANCE  
(THRESHOLD AND LIMIT) 
Corresponds to the threshold and  

limit established by taking into  

consideration risk-taking ability.  

UNI does not want to be in this zone. 

CAPACITY  
Corresponds to equity, forecast and  

actual profits, tools, experts, knowledge  

and UNI personnel needed to manage a risk. 

In terms of risk level, regulatory thresholds 

also limit UNI’s capacity.

Globally, UNI takes and assumes risks 
in a way that supports sustainable 
financial performance that reflects  
its cooperative nature while 
maintaining a sufficient level of capital 
to cover all its risks in crisis situations 
and support its strategic plan.

RISK TAXONOMY

Operational

Reputation              Strategic

       

Internal 

fraud

External 

fraud

Information 

security

Project 

management

Products, 

services and 

commercial 

practices 

Human 

resources

Process 

implementation, 

delivery and 

management

Service interruptions 

and IT system 

malfunctions

Damage to or 

limited access 

to assets and 

buildings

Financial and 

management 

information 

integrity

Credit 

Capital Liquidity Compliance

Market  Insurance Outsourcing

Risk Management
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STRATEGIC RISK
The material gap between the financial 
results of UNI and its subsidiaries and the 
anticipated results set out in its strategic 
plan. This financial gap may be linked to:

•  Inappropriate choices of strategies, 
business models, strategic partners or 
operation plans depending on its financial 
situation, operational capacity, expertise, 
competitive positioning, or business or 
economic environment

•  Adequacy of the allocation of human, 
financial and material resources to  
realize its strategy

•  Misalignment of sectorial plans  
with UNI’s strategic plan

•  Voluntary or involuntary inaction  
in response to a significant change  
in the economy or in the competitive  
or business environment.

Each year, the Board of Directors adopts 

a strategic plan which contains both 

quantitative targets (e.g., portfolio 

growth, financial performance) and 

organizational targets (e.g., establishment 

of a risk management structure, strategic 

projects). The Board of Directors conducts 

a quarterly review of the status of this 

strategic plan in conjunction with the 

members of the Executive Committee.  

The Executive Committee implements 

action plans to ensure that strategic 

objectives will be reached. 

REPUTATIONAL RISK
Revenue losses due to activities, actions 
or practices undertaken by UNI that are 
significantly below the expectations 
of members, clients, employees or the 
general public. This risk often arises due 
to ineffective management of one or more 
other risk categories, which causes a loss 
of confidence or negative conversation in 
traditional or social media. 

UNI takes its reputation very seriously. It 

continuously ensures that these actions, 

methods and behaviours are aligned with 

its cooperative values. The Executive 

Committee closely oversees the  

marketing of new products and services  

as well as changes to our existing  

products and services.

UNI’s client satisfaction rate is a key 

indicator of its reputation risk. UNI has 

been monitoring this rate closely for many 

years. To ensure that it is positioned to 

react promptly to fluctuations in customer 

satisfaction levels, UNI surveys individuals 

and businesses on a regular basis. The client 

satisfaction rates of these two groups of 

clients present a positive portrait.

CAPITAL RISK
Probable financial losses (or shortfalls) or 
losses of business opportunities resulting 
from the lack of necessary equity to fully 
implement the strategy or the retention 
of a commercial activity, business unit or 
subsidiary or of UNI in general due to a 
shortfall or improper allocation of capital. 
This risk also covers situations in which UNI 
may not have enough equity to maintain 
activity comprehensiveness due to erosion 
of its capital under regulatory ratios.

UNI maintains high levels of capital. It is 

proud of the financial soundness it offers 

its members and it takes the appropriate 

actions to maintain a level of comfort 

exceeding regulatory ratios.

Every year, UNI carries out stress tests to 

determine the organization’s resistance 

level in the event it had to manage a crisis 

situation. UNI successfully remains above 

regulatory ratios in all scenarios, including  

a severe real estate crisis.

Risk Management
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LIQUIDITY RISK
Possible losses resulting from the use 
of expensive and unplanned sources of 
funding in order to continue honouring UNI’s 
financial obligations in a timely manner. 
Financial obligations include commitments 
to depositors, borrowers (disbursement of 
approved loans), suppliers and members. 
This risk is due primarily to asymmetry 
between the cash flows related to assets 
and those related to liabilities, including the 
payment of monies owed to suppliers and 
dividends to members.    

UNI presents a favourable liquidity level on 

the Canadian financial institution market. 

The main source is Personal and Business 

member deposits, but it also uses mortgage 

securitization channels guaranteed by 

CMHC to diversify its sources. UNI also has 

lines of credit with other Canadian financial 

institutions. It has established risk indicators, 

alerts, thresholds and limits to ensure that its 

liquidity level is always at a comfortable level 

and always exceeds regulatory requirements. 

The specific purpose of alerts is to detect a 

potential liquidity crisis.

COMPLIANCE RISK
Losses that may or may not result from 
litigation, penalties, fines or financial or 
other sanctions (increased surveillance 
by regulatory organizations) linked to 
inappropriate practices that do not comply 
with applicable regulations. This risk is due 
to the possibility of UNI’s straying from 
the expectations provided in laws, rules, 
regulations, standards or other regulatory 
requirements. This risk also includes 
significant unplanned charges incurred to 
remain in compliance with current  
regulation or regulatory modifications.

UNI has a regulatory monitoring process 

which allows the identification of 

amendments to laws, rules and other 

regulatory requirements. When applicable, 

UNI adjusts its policies and procedures as 

promptly as possible to remain compliant. 

MONEY LAUNDERING  

UNI has a mechanism in place to combat 
money laundering and terrorist financing in 
compliance with the governing legislation 
(PCMLTFA) as well as OSFI requirements.

CREDIT RISK
Unplanned financial losses due to  
the inability or refusal of a borrower, 
endorser, guarantor or counterparty to  
fulfil its entire contractual obligations  
to repay a loan or to meet any other  
pre-existing financial obligation.

Credit risk includes the risks of default, 
concentration and exposure to major 
commitments with a single counterparty.

Concentration risk: Concentration risk is 
a risk resulting from major exposure to a 
single factor (industrial activity sector).

Credit risk is among the most significant 

risks for UNI. Our credit portfolio is made 

up of residential mortgage loans, personal 

loans and business credit. There are two 

distribution channels for personal loans, the 

first being loans offered directly through our 

business locations and the other products 

offered through retailers.

UNI’s Board of Directors establishes the 

policy on credit risk management, which 

is implemented by the representatives 

responsible for granting loans and  

managing credit products.

UNI uses rating systems supporting the 

quantitative assessment of borrowers’ 

credit risk level. These systems are used for 

credit granting, review and management. 

At December 31, 2018, the credit portfolio 

totalled $3.3B, including $1.65B in  

residential mortgage loans. 

Risk Management
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CREDIT GRANTING
UNI’s Board of Directors establishes 

approval limits for the credit committee 

and Chief Credit Officer. The CCO then 

establishes approval limits for the various 

staff members responsible for approving 

credit applications. 

Loans to retail clients – Personal

Our personal loan portfolio is composed of 

residential mortgages, loans and personal 

lines of credit as well as business location 

financing. Generally, decisions concerning 

credit granting to personal clients are 

based on risk ratings generated using 

credit risk predictive models. The goal of 

credit approval and portfolio management 

methods is to standardize the credit-

granting process and rapidly detect problem 

loans. The automated risk rating system 

assesses the solvency of each member and 

client periodically. This process allows us 

to promptly track risk trends both on an 

individual client basis and collectively for 

entire portfolios.

Business loans

The business loan category is made up  

of a portfolio of loans to small businesses 

(retail business), a portfolio of loans to  

mid-sized businesses and a portfolio  

of loans to large businesses.  

For these main portfolios, the ratings 

process includes 17 ratings consolidated  

into ten categories.

The following table shows the credit quality 

of the business loan portfolio (amounts 

shown were calculated before the impact  

of provisions for credit losses).

 2018 2017

Business loans

Prime quality        $371,053 $    32% $389,952 $ 37%

Satisfactory quality        698,220    60% 588,255 55%

Under supervision           55,527  5% 59,223 6%

Impaired and  
defaulted loans

          29,747    3% 25,704 2%

Total     $1,154,546 $    100% $1,063,134 $ 100%

($ thousand and %)

Ratings Moody's S&P Description

1 to 2 Aaa to Aa3 AAA to AA-

Prime  
quality

2,5 A1 to A3 A+ to A-

3 to 4
Baa1 to 
Baa3

BBB+ to 
BBB-

4,5 to 5,5 Ba1 to Ba3 BB+ to BB- Satisfactory 
quality6 to 7 B1 to B3 B+ to B-

7,5 to 9 Caa1 to C CCC+ to C Under supervision

10 D D
Impaired and 
defaulted loans

Risk Management
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($ thousand and %)

Retail clients – Businesses

Rating systems based on validated statistics 

are used to assess the credit risk associated 

with small business loans.

These systems use historical data on the 

behaviour of borrowers with characteristics 

or profiles similar to those of the applicant 

and compare the products used to estimate 

the risk associated with each transaction.

These systems are used at the initial approval 

stage and then on an ongoing basis to assess 

portfolio risk. Periodic updating of borrowers’ 

level of risk allows us to proactively manage 

the credit risk of our portfolios.

Mid-sized and large businesses

Credit is granted to mid-sized and large 

businesses based on a detailed analysis of the 

file. The financial, market and management 

characteristics of each borrower are analyzed 

using tools such as credit risk assessment 

models. Quantitative analysis using financial 

data is supplemented by professional 

assessment of the file’s other characteristics. 

On completion of this analysis, each borrower 

is assigned a rating corresponding to its level 

of risk. Regardless of the rating assigned, the 

final decision is made by the hierarchical level 

with the required approval limit.  

Credit risk mitigation

When a loan is granted to a client, UNI 

secures collateral for certain products in 

order to mitigate the borrower’s credit risk. 

This collateral typically takes the form of 

assets, such as capital, accounts receivable, 

stocks, investments, government securities  

or shares. As needed, UNI uses available  

risk-sharing mechanisms with other  

financial institutions.

   Mortgages Personal 
  Consumer and other individuals loans
  Business

BREAKDOWN OF LOANS BY 
BORROWER CATEGORY
At December 31, 2018

LOAN PORTFOLIO QUALITY
At December 31, 2018

51%

33%

16%

2017

50%

34%

16%

2018

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

-
$10,000
$20,000
$30,000
$40,000
$50,000
$60,000
$80,000

$100,000

1.50 %

2.00 %

1.00 %

0.50 %

0.98%
1.13 %

0.00 %
$31,829 $33,128

$50,796
$32,683

$27,713

1.06 % 1.03 %

1.52 %

 Ratio of gross outstanding debts on loans         
 Gross outstanding debts on loans

UNI’s loan portfolio continues to be very sound. 

On December 31, 2018, although total gross 

impaired loans were valued at $50.8M, up  

$17.7M over 2017, this significant increase is  

due to the shift from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The new 

standard requires fully guaranteed loans, loans 

affected by default contagion and restructured 

loans to be added to impaired loans.  

Risk Management
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UNI’s operations are concentrated in New 

Brunswick. On December 31, 2018, the 

loans granted to customers in this province 

represented 93.9% of our total loan portfolio. 

Due to this geographic concentration, our 

earnings depend heavily on the prevailing 

economic conditions in New Brunswick.  

A deterioration of conditions could have  

a negative impact on:

• past due loans

• foreclosed assets

• claims and legal proceedings

• the value of guarantees available for loans

UNI is nevertheless pursuing a prudent 

diversification strategy for its business  

credit portfolio outside of New Brunswick.

MARKET RISK
Possible losses resulting from potential 
changes to the interest or exchange rate, 
the market prices of shares, credit gaps, 
or desynchronization of market indexes 
or liquidity. Exposure to this risk arises 
from negotiations or investments creating 
positions included or not on balance sheets.

Interest rate risk

UNI has adopted a strategy through which 

it takes on a very low level of risk associated 

with interest rate fluctuations. This strategy 

uses interest rate swaps to reduce the 

duration gap between assets and liabilities. It 

maintains a duration gap between assets and 

liabilities within the parameters established 

by the Board of Directors. 

For the Acadia Life subsidiary, interest rate 

risk is managed using stochastic scenarios 

that determine the potential impact of 

interest rate fluctuations on the company’s 

capital. Risk limits have been established 

to ensure that the company’s risk profile 

corresponds to the risk appetite determined 

by the Board of Directors.

Foreign exchange risk

UNI does not maintain any significant 

positions on exchange markets. It holds only 

the foreign currencies (mainly US dollars) 

required to meet the anticipated needs  

of its members.

Acadia Life holds a limited volume of 

American shares in US dollars, on which  

there is no protection against the risks 

associated with fluctuations in the exchange 

rate. This represents less than 5% of  

Acadia Life’s investments.

Investment management

An investment policy covers the composition 

and quality of securities in the portfolios as 

well as the various portfolio management 

parameters for all funds under management 

associated with liquidity risk management.

INSURANCE RISK
Possible losses incurred when paid 
compensation differs in practice from 
estimated assumptions (mortality, lapse,  
etc.) incorporated into the planning and 
pricing of insurance products.

UNI assumes life insurance risks (mortality, 

lapse) only for life insurance and annuity 

products offered by Acadia Life. This 

subsidiary does not offer complex  

insurance products. Acadia Life maintains  

a capital level significantly exceeding 

regulatory requirements.

OUTSOURCING RISK
Possible losses (financial or other) due to 
failure of a supplier (including outsourcers 
and partners) to fulfil all or part of its non-
financial contractual obligations (contractual 
misunderstanding). In such a case, potential 
costs associated with the implementation of 
an alternative solution to the services of the 
supplier in question could be incurred.

Risk Management
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Although this is typically classified as falling 
under operational risk, UNI deems prudent to 
treat it as a separate risk category given the 
significance of this risk for the organization.

In order to achieve its strategic and business 

goals, UNI uses the services of various 

external suppliers. Among them, there 

are four agreements classified as major 

contracting agreements in terms of its 

outsourcing policy, the most significant  

being the agreement with the Fédération  

des caisses populaires Desjardins du Québec.

UNI makes use of the information 

technology services offered by Desjardins 

in accordance with the same standards 

that Desjardins offers to its own Caisses. 

This strategy allows UNI to take advantage 

of the reliability of the systems maintained 

by a large financial institution that is highly 

regarded across Canada. UNI also benefits 

from the improvements made by Desjardins 

to its systems, procedures, rules, products 

and services. However, UNI must regularly 

adapt new features launched by Desjardins 

to the Acadian reality and monitor for any 

anticipated changes at Desjardins with a 

view to adapting certain solutions or internal 

communications. UNI and its key suppliers 

maintain excellent business relationships 

supported by management processes that 

provide for adequate risk management 

among other considerations.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Losses resulting from shortcomings or failures 
related to procedures, employees, internal 
systems or external events. Outsourcing risk 
is treated separately due to its significance for 
UNI. Because of its heterogeneous nature, this 
risk is divided into ten distinct components.

UNI has established policies, guidelines, 

procedures, computer systems, rules, 

standards, business continuity plans and 

internal controls to mitigate any losses that 

might arise from various sources associated 

with its operations, such as:

• Internal fraud 

• External fraud 

•  Damage to or limited access to  

tangible assets and buildings  

•  Service interruptions and IT  

system malfunctions  

•  Information security 

•  Project management 

•  Process implementation,  

delivery and management  

•  Products, services and  

commercial practices 

•  Human resources  

•  Financial and management  

information integrity 

Additionally, UNI has insurance in place  

to cover any significant financial losses.

OFFICE OF DISPUTE MANAGEMENT
The Office of Dispute Management 

processed a total of 163 complaints during 

the past year. Key statistics are as follows:

•  Average processing time: 2.5 days

•  Client satisfaction rate: 47%

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 56 Risk Management
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
 
 
To the members of 
Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Caisse populaire acadienne ltée, and its 
subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the “financial 
statements”). 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian 
GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information, 
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the Annual Report.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
We obtained the Annual Report prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 
performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this 
regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

 

Deloitte LLP 
816, Main Street 
Moncton (New-Brunswick)  
E1C 1E6 
Canada 
 
Tel.: 506-389-8073 
Fax: 506-632-1210 
www.deloitte.ca  
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

March 21, 2019 
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Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Consolidated statement of financial position 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 

Page 5 

Notes 2018  2017  
$ $

Assets 
 Cash 198,146  100,193  
 Securities 22 593,471  587,776  

Loans 6 

 Personal 2,178,782  2,143,790  
 Business 1,154,546  1,065,440  

3,333,328  3,209,230  

Allowance for credit losses (25,992 ) (24,530 ) 
3,307,336  3,184,700  

Other assets 
 Accrued interest, receivables and other assets 7 27,235  25,646  
 Derivative financial instruments 24,684  30,459  
 Reinsurance assets 10 8,129  8,455  
 Deferred taxes 19 16,457  18,386  
 Property and equipment 8 32,867  34,616  
 Intangible assets 9 12,855  9,847  

122,227  127,409  
4,221,180  4,000,078  

Liabilities
Deposits 
 Payable on demand 1,647,465  1,718,316  
 Payable on a fixed date 1,767,874  1,537,226  

3,415,339  3,255,542  

Other liabilities 
 Borrowings 11 125,291  86,314  
 Accrued interest, payables and other liabilities 12 93,158  73,443  
 Income taxes payable 687  440  
 Actuarial liabilities 10 162,644  170,427  
 Derivative financial instruments 11,882  15,385  

393,662  346,009  
3,809,001  3,601,551  

Commitments and contingencies 23 

Equity 
Share capital 14 4,367  4,426  
Accumulated other comprehensive income 15 (1,372 ) 3,757  
General reserve 409,184  390,344  

412,179  398,527  
4,221,180  4,000,078  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

Wanita McGraw, FCPA, CA, ICD.D 
Chair of the Audit committee

u{).n,t?r 

( 
erre-Marcel DesJardins, ICD.D 

Chair of the Board 
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Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Consolidated statement of income 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 

Page 6 

Notes 2018  2017  

$  $  

Net financial income 
 Financial income 133,717  143,224  
 Financial expense 37,023  33,916  
 Net financial income 96,694  109,308  

 Provision for credit losses 6 5,651  6,515  
Net financial income after provision for credit losses 91,043  102,793  

Other income 
Mainly related to the administration of deposits 17,426  18,241  
Related to the administration of other services 18,177  18,558  
Net insurance and annuity premiums 16 18,709  18,990  

54,312  55,789  

Other expenses 
Salaries and employee benefits 65,245  62,750  
General and other expenses 59,620  56,687  
Net insurance and annuity benefits 17 4,252  21,820  

129,117  141,257  

Net income before other items 16,238  17,325  
Other items 18 3,714  (11,268 ) 

Net income before income taxes 19,952  6,057  

Income taxes 19 5,659  1,790  
Net income for the year 14,293  4,267  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 

Page 7 
 

 Notes 2018  2017  

  $  $  
      
Net income for the year   14,293  4,267  
      
Other comprehensive income      
 Item that will not be reclassified to the   
  consolidated statement of income      
 Change in the employee benefit liability      
  Change during the year 13 (725 ) 382  
  Deferred income taxes 19 236  (111 ) 
 Total of item that will not be reclassified to the  
  consolidated statement of income  (489 ) 271  
      
  Items that will be reclassified to the consolidated 

  statement of income      
 Unrealized changes in fair value on available-for-sale 
  securities      
  Change during the year  n/a  1,538  
  Related income taxes 19 n/a  (446 ) 
  n/a  1,092  
      
 Reclassified to net income      
  Realized gains on available-for-sale securities  n/a  (1,679 ) 
  Related income taxes 19 n/a  485  
  n/a  (1,194 ) 
      

Unrealized changes in fair value on securities at fair 
value through other comprehensive income       
Change during the year  (726 ) n/a  
Related income taxes 19 207  n/a  

  (519 ) n/a  
      

Reclassified to net income      
Realized losses on securities at fair value through 

other comprehensive income   1,097  n/a  
Related income taxes 19 (309 ) n/a  

  788  n/a  
 Total of items that will be reclassified to the  
  consolidated statement of income  269  (102 ) 
Total other comprehensive income, net of income taxes  (220 ) 169  
Comprehensive income for the year  14,073  4,436  

      
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 

Page 8 
 

          2018  

 Notes 
Share 

capital  

Accumulated 
other 

compre-
hensive 
income  

Distributable 
net income  

General 
reserve  

Total 
equity  

  $  $  $  $  $  
            
Previous year ending 

balance  4,426  3,757  —  390,344  398,527  
IFRS 9 adoption  4 —  (5,398 ) —  5,036  (362 ) 
Beginning balance  4,426  (1,641 ) —  395,380  398,165  
            
Net income for the 

 year  —  —  14,293  —  14,293  
Other comprehensive 

income  —  269  —  (489 ) (220 ) 
Comprehensive income  —  269  14,293  (489 ) 14,073  
            
Net transfer to the 

 general reserve 20 —  —  (14,293 ) 14,293  —  
Net change in share 

 capital  (59 ) —  —  —  (59 ) 
  (59 ) —  (14,293 ) 14,293  (59 ) 
Ending balance  4,367  (1,372 ) —  409,184  412,179  
            
          2017  

 Notes 
Share 
capital  

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income  

Distributable 
net income  

General 
reserve  Total equity  

  $  $  $  $  $  
            
Beginning balance  4,432  3,859  —  385,806  394,097  
Net income for the 

year  —  —  4,267  —  4,267  
Other comprehensive 

income  —  (102 ) —  271  169  
Comprehensive income  —  (102 ) 4,267  271  4,436  
            
Net transfer to the 

 general reserve 20 —  —  (4,267 ) 4,267  —  
Net change in share 

 capital  (6 ) —  —  —  (6 ) 
  (6 ) —  (4,267 ) 4,267  (6 ) 
Ending balance  4,426  3,757  —  390,344  398,527  
            
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Consolidated statement of cash flows 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars)  

Page 9 
 

  2018  2017  
  $  $  
      

Operating activities      
 Net income before income taxes  19,952  6,057  
 Adjustments to determine cash flows      
  Depreciation of property and equipment and  
   amortization of intangible assets  5,577  4,965  
  Loss on disposal of property and equipment and  
   intangible assets  24  288  
  Amortization of premiums and discounts on securities  (139 ) 1,683  
  Net change in actuarial liabilities  (7,783 ) 11,686  
  Change in investment contract liabilities  (44 ) (52 ) 
  Provision for credit losses  5,651  6,515  
  Loss (gain) on securities  10,466  (8,020 ) 
  Other items at fair value  (3,714 ) 11,268  
  Change in the employee benefit liability  (2,579 ) (2,223 ) 
  Change in reinsurance assets  326  (1,221 ) 
 Net change in interest receivable and payable  (2,977 ) (2,002 ) 
 Net change in loans  (128,797 ) (226,033 ) 
 Net change in deposits  159,797  120,235  
 Net change in derivative financial instruments  5,986   (6,706 ) 
 Net change in others assets and liabilities  23,001  (6,859 ) 
 Income taxes paid during the year  (3,201 ) (1,577 ) 
  81,546  (91,996 ) 
      

Investing activities      
 Acquisitions of securities  (945,058 ) (765,446 ) 
 Proceeds from disposal of securities  929,407  842,513  
 Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and 
  intangible assets   (6,904 ) (4,955 ) 
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and  
  equipment, and intangible assets  44  313  
  (22,511 ) 72,425  
      

Financing activities      
 Increase of borrowings  38,977  19,913  
 Net change in share capital  (59 ) (6 ) 
  38,918  19,907  
      

Increase in cash  97,953  336  
Cash, beginning of year  100,193  99,857  
Cash, end of year  198,146  100,193  
Other cash flow information relating to operating 
 activities      
 Interest received   142,192  135,783  
 Interest paid   36,498  33,442  
 Dividends received   1,302  1,047  
      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 

Page 10 

1. General information 
Caisse populaire acadienne ltée (the “Caisse”), operating under UNI Financial Cooperation, is a 
co-operative chartered under the Bank Act and its activities are governed, in particular, by the 
Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (“OSFI”) of Canada and the Financial 
Consumer Agency of Canada. The Caisse is also a member of the Canada Deposit Insurance 
Corporation. The Caisse provides a complete range of financial products and services including 
banking services to individuals and businesses, asset management, personal insurance and 
damage insurance. 

The headquarters of the Caisse are located at 295 St-Pierre Boulevard West, Caraquet 
(New Brunswick), Canada. 

The Board of Directors approved these consolidated financial statements and notes on March 21, 
2019. 

 

2.  Basis of presentation 
International financial reporting standards 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management of the Caisse in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except 
for the remeasurement of certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value, including securities 
at fair value through profit or loss, securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 
and derivative financial instruments. 

The items included in the consolidated financial position are based on liquidity. And each item 
includes both short-term balances and long-term balances, if applicable.  

Certain comparative amounts were reclassified to be consistent with the presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These reclassifications did not affect the 
Caisse’s results or total assets and liabilities. 

Functional currency and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, the Caisse’s functional 
currency. 

Statement of compliance 

The Caisse’s consolidated financial statements are established according to IFRS effective on  
December 31, 2018. 
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Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 
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2. Basis of presentation (continued) 
Changes in accounting policies  

On January 1, 2018, the Caisse has adopted accounting standards IFRS 9, Financial instruments, 
and IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers. The Caisse has applied transitional 
exemptions provided for in the new standards, which do not restate the comparative periods. As 
a result, the retrospective impact of applying these accounting standards is recognized in opening 
balances as at January 1, 2018. 

IFRS 9, Financial instruments, replaces IAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition and 
measurement, and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for 
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. 

IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers, replaces IAS 18, Revenue, and related 
interpretations. IFRS 15 introduces a single and comprehensive accounting model for all contracts 
with customers, with the exception of those falling within the scope of other standards such as 
financial instruments, insurance contracts and leases. The principle of this standard is that the 
recognition of revenue must reflect the transfer of goods or services in an amount that reflects 
the value of the consideration received, or that is expected to be received in exchange of those 
goods or services.  

Section Impact of IFRS 9 adoption of Note 4 “Changes in accounting policies” summarizes the 
impact of adoption of this standard during the period on the consolidated statements of financial 
position and equity of the Caisse as at January 1, 2018, while sections IFRS 9, Financial 
instruments and IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers provide detailed information 
on the changes arising from the adoption of these standards. The following significant accounting 
policies result from the adoption of these new standards and are effective from January 1, 2018, 
retrospectively without restatement of comparative periods. 

3. Significant accounting policies 
Basis of consolidation and amalgamation 

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Caisse and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Financière Acadie Inc. and Société de Services Acadie Inc. The 
consolidated financial statements also include the financial statements of Conseil Acadien de la 
Coopération Ltée, an entity that the Caisse controls by way of control of its Board of Directors. 

The financial statements of all entities of the Caisse have been prepared for the same reference 
period using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, income and expenses as well 
as gains and losses on internal transactions have been eliminated. 

Use of estimates and judgment 

The preparation of financial consolidated statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and the presentation of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the fiscal year. The actual 
results could differ from these estimates.  
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Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
December 31, 2018 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Use of estimates and judgment (continued) 

The main items for which management had to make these estimates and assumptions include 
insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance assets, the allowance for credit losses, the 
measurement of financial instruments at fair value, income taxes and the measurement of the 
employee benefit liability. The estimates and assumptions with respect to these items are 
presented below. 

Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance assets 

Actuarial liabilities are determined using the Canadian Asset Liability Method (“CALM”), in 
accordance with accepted actuarial practice in Canada. Under CALM, the calculation of the 
actuarial liabilities, net of the reinsurance assets, is based on an explicit projection of cash 
flows using the current best estimate assumptions for each cash flow component and each 
significant contingency. Investment returns are based on projected investment income using 
the current asset portfolio and projected reinvestment strategies. Each non-economic 
assumption is adjusted by a margin for adverse deviation. With respect to investment 
returns, the provision for adverse deviation is established using yield scenarios. These 
scenarios are determined using a deterministic model that includes testing prescribed by 
Canadian actuarial standards. The period used for the cash flow projection is the policy 
lifetime for most insurance contracts. For certain types of contracts, a shorter projection 
period may be used. However, this period is limited to the term of the liability over which the 
Caisse is exposed to significant risk without the ability to adjust policy premiums or charges 
related to the contract. Additional information is disclosed in Note 10. 

Allowance for expected credit losses 

The model for determining the allowance for expected credit losses considers a number of 
factors and methodologies specific to credit risk, including changes in the notion of risk, the 
integration of prospective scenarios and the estimated life of rotation exposures. The result 
of the model are then examined taking into account management’s judgment regarding 
external factors such as portfolio quality, economic conditions and credit market conditions. 

The Caisse establishes separately, loan by loan, individual allowances for each loan that is 
considered impaired. To determine the estimated recoverable amount, the Caisse discounts 
expected future cash flows at the effective interest rate inherent in the loan. When the 
amounts and timing of future cash flows cannot be estimated with reasonable reliability, the 
estimated recoverable amount is determined using the fair value of the collateral underlying 
the loan. Given the significance of the amounts and their inherent uncertainty, a change in 
the estimates and judgments could materially affect the amounts of the allowances. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Use of estimates and judgment (continued) 

Measurement of financial instruments at fair value 

The fair value of financial instruments is measured using a fair value hierarchy depending on 
whether the inputs used for measurement are observable or not. Note 22 shows how fair 
value measurements are allocated to the three levels of the hierarchy. Given the role of 
judgment in the application of a large number of acceptable valuation techniques and 
estimates for the calculation of fair values, they are not necessarily comparable among 
financial institutions. Fair value reflects market conditions at a given date and, therefore, 
may not be representative of future fair value. It also cannot be interpreted as a realizable 
amount in the event of immediate settlement. 

Income taxes 

Judgment is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. The calculation of income 
taxes is based on the tax treatment of the transactions recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements. The Caisse recognizes a liability for anticipated tax adjustments based on an 
estimate of the additional taxes payable. When the amount payable is different from that 
originally recorded, the difference affects income tax expense, and the provision for income 
taxes could increase or decrease in subsequent years. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect management’s estimate of the value of loss 
carryforwards and other temporary differences. Deferred tax asset values are determined 
using assumptions regarding the results of operations of future fiscal years, timing of reversal 
of temporary differences and tax rates in effect on the date of reversals, which may change 
depending on government fiscal policies.  

Management must also assess whether it is more likely than not that deferred income tax 
assets will be realized before they expire and, according to all available evidence, whether a 
valuation allowance is required on all or portion of deferred tax assets. Moreover, in 
determining income taxes recorded on the consolidated statement of income, management 
interprets tax legislation in various jurisdictions. Using other assumptions or interpretations 
could lead to significantly different income tax expense. 

 

Valuation of the employee benefit liability 

The present value of the defined benefit pension plan obligation is calculated on an actuarial 
basis using a number of assumptions. Any change in these assumptions would have an 
impact on the carrying amount of the employee benefit liability. The assumptions used and 
additional information can be found in Note 13. 

 



72 Consolidated Financial Statements
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 

Page 14 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Financial instruments 

All financial assets must be recognized at fair value upon initial recognition and classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss, fair value through other comprehensive income or amortized 
cost, according to the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the financial assets and the 
business model relating to the management of these financial assets. Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, 
financial assets were classified as at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale, held-to-
maturity or loans and receivables, based on the purpose for which the instrument was acquired 
and its characteristics. Financial liabilities must be measured at amortized cost or classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss. Purchases and sales of financial assets are recorded using the 
trade date. 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and any 
change in fair value is recorded in profit or loss in the year in which these changes occur. 
Financial instruments can be classified in this category either because they are classified as 
at fair value through profit or loss or because, upon initial recognition, they were designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss. This designation may be made if it eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise 
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains or losses on them on different 
bases or if a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and its 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy and information about the group is provided internally 
on that basis to key management personnel. With the exception of the derivative financial 
instruments and instruments that do not meet the criteria of the test of the characteristics 
of the contractual cash flows corresponding solely to payments of principal and interest, 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are classified in this category through 
initial designation. Interest income earned, amortization of premiums and discounts, and 
dividends received are included in financial income using the accrual method.  

Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, with the exception of derivative financial instruments, that were 
classified as held for trading, financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss were 
classified in this category through initial designation. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value 
and any unrealized gains or losses are recorded in other comprehensive income. Financial 
assets can be classified in this category either because they are classified at fair value 
through other comprehensive income or, if it is equity instruments, because, at initial 
recognition, they have been designated at fair value through other comprehensive income.  

Interest revenue earned, amortization of premiums and discounts and dividends received are 
included in financial income, using the accrual method.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Financial instruments (continued) 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

For financial assets classified at fair value through other comprehensive income, gains and 
losses are reclassified to the consolidated statement of income when the asset is 
derecognized, whereas for financial assets designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, gains and losses are never reclassified to consolidated statement of 
income and are reclassified immediately to distributable net income.  

Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, available-for-sale financial assets were measured at their fair value 
and any unrealized gains and losses were recognized in other comprehensive income until 
financial assets were sold or became impaired.  

Classified at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets classified at fair value through other comprehensive income include 
debt instruments for which the holding is part of a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and that 
meet the criteria of the test of contractual cash flows corresponding solely to payments 
of principal and interest.  

Designated at fair value through other comprehensive income  

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income include 
equity instruments that were subject to an irrevocable choice, instrument by 
instrument. The Caisse has not designated any financial asset in this measurement 
category. 

Financial instruments at amortized cost 

Financial instruments at amortized cost are financial assets for which the holding is part of a 
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and which meet the 
criteria of the test of contractual cash flows corresponding solely to payments of principal 
and interest. 

Financial instruments at amortized cost are carried at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts future cash 
outflows or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or, as the case may be, 
over a shorter period of time to obtain the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
liability. 

Interest or dividends arising from these financial instruments are included in financial 
income and expense.  

Transaction costs 

Transaction costs relating to the acquisition of investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are capitalized and then amortized over the term of the investment 
using the effective interest method, while those relating to acquisition of investments at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognized in net income. Those arising from the disposition 
of investments are deducted from the proceeds of disposition. Investment management fees 
are charged to net income as incurred. Transaction costs attributable to financial instruments 
at amortized cost are capitalized and amortized using the effective interest method. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Financial instruments (continued) 

Classification and recognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are classified using the methods described below. 

 Cash 

 Cash is classified at amortized cost (loans and receivables prior to IFRS 9 adoption) 
and includes cash on hand and current accounts. 

 Securities 

 Debt securities include money market securities, bonds, asset-backed term notes and 
 term deposits. Income from securities is accounted for on an accrual basis. 

Money market securities matched with actuarial liabilities of Acadie Life are designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss. Other money market securities are classified at 
fair value through other comprehensive income. Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, money market 
securities of the former Federation and Acadia Life were classified as designated at fair 
value through profit or loss while other money market securities were classified as 
available-for-sale. 

 Bonds matched with actuarial liabilities of Acadia Life are designated at fair value through 
profit or loss. Other bonds are classified at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, bonds matched with actuarial liabilities and bonds of 
the former Federation were designated at fair value through profit or loss while other 
bonds were classified as available-for-sale. 

 Asset-backed term notes are classified at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, they were designated at fair value through profit or 
loss. 

Term deposits are classified at amortized cost (loans and receivables prior to IFRS 9 
adoption). 

Equity securities include equities, investment funds and other investments. 

 Equities are classified at fair value through profit or loss. Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, 
equities matched with actuarial liabilities were designated at fair value through profit or 
loss, while other equities were classified as available-for-sale. 

 Investment funds are classified at fair value through profit or loss. Prior to IFRS 9 
adoption, investment funds matched with actuarial liabilities were designated at fair 
value through profit or loss, while other investment funds were classified as available-
for-sale.  

 Other investments mainly consist of equity securities in unrelated entities and are 
classified at fair value through profit or loss. Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, other investments 
were classified as available-for-sale. 

 For items designated at fair value through profit or loss, with actuarial liabilities being 
 determined according to CALM, the carrying value of the assets matching those 
 liabilities is reflected in the calculation basis. As a result, any change in the fair value 
 of the portion of money market securities, bonds, asset-backed term notes and 
 investment funds matched to actuarial liabilities is included in the measurement of 
 actuarial liabilities. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Financial instruments (continued) 

Classification and recognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

Loans 

 Loans are classified at amortized cost (loans and receivables prior to IFRS 9 adoption) 
and recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest method, net of the 
allowance for credit losses. The allowance for credit losses on impaired loans is charged 
immediately to net income. 

 Other assets 

 With the exception of the derivative financial instruments, financial assets included in 
other assets are classified at amortized cost (loans and receivables prior to IFRS 9 
adoption). 

 Derivative financial instruments 

 Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value depends on 
 assets, interest rates, foreign exchange rates and other financial indices. Derivative 
 financial instruments are negotiated by mutual agreement between the Caisse and the 
 counterparty and include interest rate swaps, foreign exchange contracts and stock 
 index options. 

 The Caisse recognizes derivative financial instruments at fair value, whether they are 
stand-alone or embedded. Stand-alone derivative financial instruments are recognized 
in the statement of financial position in other assets and liabilities, while embedded 
 derivative financial instruments are reported in accordance with their characteristics 
with their host contract, under deposits payable on a fixed date. Changes in the fair 
value of stand-alone derivative financial instruments are recognized in the statement of 
income in other items, except for changes in market-linked term deposits, which are 
recognized as a financial expense. Changes in the fair value of embedded derivative 
financial instruments are recorded as a financial expense adjustment. 

 The Caisse uses derivative financial instruments primarily for asset-liability 
 management. 

Derivative financial instruments are mainly used to manage the interest rate risk 
 exposure of the assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position, firm 
 commitments and forecasted transactions. 

 Interest rate swaps are transactions in which two parties exchange interest flows on a 
 specified notional amount for a predetermined period based on agreed-upon fixed and 
 floating rates. Principal amounts are not exchanged. 

 The foreign exchange contracts to which the Caisse is party consist of forward 
 contracts. Forward contracts are commitments to exchange, at a future date, two 
 currencies based on a rate agreed upon by both parties at the inception of the 
 contract. 

 The Caisse has opted not to apply hedge accounting for these derivative financial 
 instruments. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Financial instruments (continued) 

Classification and recognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

Deposits 

 Deposits are classified at amortized cost (other financial liabilities prior to IFRS 9 
adoption) and are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 Demand deposits are interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing deposits typically held in 
 chequing accounts and savings accounts. Deposits payable on a fixed date are 
 interest-bearing deposits usually held in fixed-term deposit accounts, guaranteed 
 investment certificates or other similar instruments, with terms generally varying from 
 one day to five years and maturing on a predetermined date. 

 Other liabilities 

Borrowings and financial liabilities included in other liabilities, excluding derivative 
financial instruments, are classified at amortized cost (other financial liabilities prior to 
IFRS 9 adoption) and are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Impairment of financial assets 

At the end of the year, the Caisse recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses for debt 
instruments classified at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
as well as for some specific off-balance sheet items, i.e. credit commitments. 

The estimate of the allowance for expected credit losses is based on an impairment model 
that includes three different stages: 

• Stage 1: For financial instruments whose credit risk has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition and which are not considered to be impaired, an allowance for 
the next 12 months expected credit losses is recognized;  
• Stage 2: For financial instruments whose credit has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, but which are not impaired, an allowance for the lifetime expected credit 
losses is recognized; 
• Stage 3: For financial instruments considered to be impaired, an allowance for lifetime 
expected credit losses remains recognized.   

 

Over the life of the financial instruments, they may move from one stage of the impairment 
model to another depending on the improvement or deterioration of their credit risk. The 
categorization of instruments between the various stages of the impairment model is always 
done by comparing the change in credit risk between the end-of-year date and the initial 
recognition date of the financial instrument and analyzing the objective evidence of 
impairment. 

Prior to IFRS 9 adoption, the Caisse determined whether there were possible objective 
evidence of impairment. If so, and if the Caisse determined that during the year there was 
an important adverse change in the timing or expected amount of future cash flows, an 
impairment was recognized in consolidated income. An impairment already recognized could 
be reversed to the extent of the improvement. The carrying amount of the financial asset 
could not be greater than it would have been at the date of the recovery if the impairment 
had never been recognized. The recovery was recognized in net income with the exception 
of available-for-sale equity instruments. For available-for-sale debt instruments, an increase 
in fair value in excess of the impairment previously recognized in the consolidated statement 
of income was recognized in other comprehensive income. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Financial instruments (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk  

In determining if the credit risk of the financial instrument has significantly increased 
since the initial date, the Caisse bases its assessment on the change in the risk of default 
over the expected lifetime.  

In order to achieve this, the Caisse compares the risk rating of the financial instrument 
at the reporting date with the risk rating on the date of initial recognition. In addition, 
reasonable and supportable information that is indicative of significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition is also taken into account, including qualitative information 
and future economic condition; to the extent that these affect the assessment of the 
probability of default of the instrument. The criteria used to determine the significant 
increase of credit risk are based primarily on a change in the increase in credit rating by 
member type. A simplification linked to the low credit risk allows considering there has 
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition for instruments 
whose risk is considered low at the reporting date. All instruments past due since 30 
days and commercial financing on the “watch list” are also transferred to Stage 2 of the 
impairment model. 

Measurement of allowance for expected credit losses  

The allowance for expected credit losses on impaired loans is measured individually, 
while the allowance for performing loans is measured collectively. Financial instruments 
for which credit losses are measured on a collective basis are grouped according to the 
similarity of the credit risk characteristics. 

Changes in allowance for losses due to the passage of time are recognized in financial 
income, while those attributable to the revision of expected cash inflows are recognized 
in the allowance for loan losses.  

Loan portfolios that have not been subject to an allowance for impaired loans are 
included in a group of assets with similar credit risk characteristics and are subject to an 
allowance for expected credit losses.  

The method used by the Caisse to measure the allowance takes into account the risk 
parameters of the various loans portfolios. Models used to determine the allowance take 
into account a number of factors, including probabilities of default (frequency of losses), 
losses given default (size of losses) and exposures at default. These parameters are 
based on historical loss patterns and are determined by the member types, namely 
personal retail, business retail and non-retail. In addition, for each of these member 
types, two types of products are identified: line of credit or term loan.  

The measurement of allowance for expected credit losses is estimated for each exposure 
at the reporting date and is based on the result of the multiplication of the three credit 
risk parameters, namely the probability of default (“PD”), the loss given default (“LGD”) 
and the exposure at default (“EaD”).  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Financial instruments (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Measurement of allowance for expected credit losses (continued) 

The result of this multiplication is then discounted using the effective interest rate. The 
parameters are estimated using appropriate segmentation that takes into account 
common credit risk characteristics. For financial instruments in Stage 1 of the 
impairment model, the projection of credit risk parameters is performed over a maximal 
horizon of 12 months, while for those in Stage 2 the projection is performed on the 
remaining life of the instrument. The allowance for expected credit losses also takes into 
account information on future economic conditions. The measurement of the allowance 
relies heavily on management’s judgment and depends on its assessment of current 
credit quality trends in relation to business segments, impact of changes in its credit 
policies and economic conditions.  

Finally, the allowance on off-balance sheet items, such as unrecognized credit 
commitments, is recognized in other liabilities. 

Maturity date and expected life  

The expected life corresponds to the maximal contractual maturity date during which 
the Caisse is exposed to credit risk, including when the options for extension are at the 
discretion of the borrower. The exception of this guidance is rotating exposures, 
consisting of lines of credit and Atout margins for which the life is estimated and 
corresponds to the period for which there is exposure to credit risk without the expected 
credit losses mitigated by normal credit risk management measures. 

Inclusion of the passage of time in the calculation of allowance  

Measurement of expected credit losses takes into account the time value of money. The 
effective discount rate used is based on the different types of financial instruments as 
well as the nature of the rate at initial recognition, either fixed or variable. 

Definition of default  

The definition of default for determining financial instruments that will be classified in 
Stage 3 is the same as that used for the Caisse’s internal credit risk management. This 
definition considers observable data about quantitative and qualitative events that have 
a detrimental effect on estimated future cash flows. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Financial instruments (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Definition of impaired financial assets 

The Caisse assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A loan is considered to be 
impaired if such evidence exists, specifically when one of the following conditions is met: 
(a) there is reason to believe that a portion of the principal or interest cannot be 
collected; (b) the interest or principal repayment is contractually more than 90 days 
past due, unless the loan is fully secured and in the process of collection. A loan is 
considered to be past due when a borrower has failed to make a payment when 
contractually due.  

When a loan becomes impaired, the interest previously accrued but not collected is 
capitalized to the loan. However, for loans fully secured by government or impaired by 
contagion, interest will not be capitalized to the loan. Payments subsequently received 
are recorded as a reduction of the principal. Interest revenues on impaired loans are 
calculated on the net value of the loan. A loan ceases to be considered impaired when 
principal and interest payments are up to date and there is no longer any doubt as to 
the collection of the loan, or when it is restructured, in which case it is treated as a new 
loan, and there is no longer any doubt as to the collection of the principal and interest.  

Write-off of loans 

A loan is written-off when all attempts at restructuring or collection have been made and 
the likelihood of future recovery is remote. When a loan is written-off completely, any 
subsequent payments are recorded in net income. 

Assets foreclosed 

Collateral is obtained if deemed necessary for a member’s loan facility, after an 
assessment of their creditworthiness. Collateral usually takes the form of an asset such 
as cash, government securities, stocks, receivables, inventories or property and 
equipment. 

Assets foreclosed to settle impaired loans are recognized on the date of foreclosure at 
their fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value of foreclosed assets is determined 
by using a comparative market analysis, based on the optimal use of the assets, and 
considering the characteristics, location and market of each foreclosed asset. 
Transaction prices for similar assets are used, but certain adjustments are made to take 
into account the differences between assets on the market and the foreclosed assets 
being evaluated. Any subsequent change in fair value is recorded on the statement of 
income. 

Reinsurance assets 

In the normal course of business, the Caisse uses reinsurance to limit its exposure to risk. The 
reinsurance assets represent amounts owed to the Caisse by reinsurance companies for ceded 
insurance contract liabilities. These amounts are calculated in a manner similar to the actuarial 
liabilities for future benefits under insurance contracts, in accordance with the reinsurance 
agreements. The reinsurance assets are tested for impairment annually. When there is objective 
evidence that a reinsurance asset is impaired, the carrying value of that asset is written down to 
its recoverable value and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or loss. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Property and equipment 

Land is recorded at cost. Buildings and equipment and other are recorded at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. Gains 
and losses from disposal are included in net income in the year in which they occur and are 
included in other income. Property and equipment are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. When the 
carrying value exceeds the fair value, the carrying value is adjusted and an impairment loss is 
recognized in profit or loss. 

Buildings 5 to 60 years 
Equipment and other 1 to 30 years 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets include software, acquired or internally generated, and are recorded at cost. 
They are amortized over their useful lives on a straight-line basis and using terms of 1-15 years. 
Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. When the carrying value exceeds the 
recoverable amount, the carrying value is adjusted and an impairment loss is recognized in profit 
or loss. 

Assets held for sale 

An asset is classified as held for sale if its carrying amount is expected to be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and such a sale transaction is highly 
probable. An asset held for sale is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and its fair value 
less costs to sell. 

The fair value of assets held for sale is determined by using a comparative market analysis, based 
on the optimal use of the assets, as well as the characteristics, location and market of each asset. 
Transaction prices for similar assets are used and certain adjustments are made to take into 
account the differences between assets on the market and assets held for sale. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Caisse assesses at the reporting date whether there is evidence that an asset may be 
impaired. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. Fair value is the best estimate of the amount that can be obtained from a 
sale during an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less costs of 
disposal. Value in use is calculated using the most appropriate method, generally by discounting 
recoverable future cash flows. Impairment losses on that asset may be subsequently reversed 
and are recognized in the statement of income in the year in which they occur. 

Estimating the recoverable amount of a non-financial asset to determine if it is impaired also 
requires that management make estimates and assumptions, and any change in these estimates 
and assumptions could impact the determination of the recoverable amount of non-financial 
assets and, therefore, the outcome of the impairment test. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Insurance and investment contract liabilities 

i. Classification of contracts 

Insurance contracts are contracts that transfer a significant insurance risk at the time of 
issue of the contract. Insurance risk is transferred when the Caisse agrees to compensate 
the policyholder if an uncertain future event specified in the contract adversely affects the 
policyholder. Insurance contracts may also include the transfer of an immaterial financial 
risk. Contracts that do not meet the definition of an insurance contract in accordance with 
IFRS are classified either as investment contracts or service contracts. Investment contracts 
are contracts that involve financial risk without significant insurance risk.  

Contracts issued by the Caisse that transfer a significant insurance risk are classified as 
insurance contracts in accordance with IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts. Contracts issued by the 
Caisse that do not meet the definition of an insurance contract are classified as investment 
contracts, in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (formerly IAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement).  

When a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance 
contract for the rest of its term, even if the insurance risk decreases significantly during this 
period, until its expiry or the expiration of all rights and obligations. However, an investment 
contract may be reclassified as an insurance policy after its issue if the insurance risk 
becomes significant. 

ii. Insurance contract liabilities 

Actuarial liabilities represent the amounts which, together with estimated future premiums 
and net investment income, will allow the Caisse to meet all of its obligations regarding 
estimated future benefits, taxes other than income taxes and related estimated future 
expenses. The appointed actuary of the Caisse is required to determine the actuarial liabilities 
needed to meet its future commitments. 

Actuarial liabilities are determined using the CALM, in accordance with Canadian accepted 
actuarial practice. 

The reinsurers’ share of the actuarial liabilities is recognized as an asset in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as “Reinsurance assets.” 

iii. Liability adequacy test 

The Caisse meets the minimum requirements of the liability adequacy test given that it takes 
into consideration, when determining the actuarial liabilities, current estimates of all 
contractual and related cash flows, such as the costs of processing claims and cash flows 
resulting from embedded options and guarantees. Moreover, if the liability is inadequate, the 
entire deficiency is recognized in net income. 

iv. Investment contract liabilities 

Investment contracts of the Caisse mainly comprise annuity certain contracts. Investment 
contract liabilities are classified at amortized cost (other financial liabilities prior to IFRS 9 
adoption) and are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Amounts 
received as premiums are initially recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as deposits. Subsequently, deposits and withdrawals are recorded directly as an 
adjustment to the liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Insurance and investment contract liabilities (continued) 

v. Reinsurance 

The Caisse uses reinsurance treaties for contracts with coverage in excess of certain 
maximum amounts that vary based on the nature of the activities. In addition, it purchases 
additional reinsurance protection against large-scale catastrophic events. 

Liabilities for pending and unreported claims 

These liabilities represent life insurance claims known at year-end that have not yet been settled 
as well as an estimate of the insurance claims for which death has occurred but no claim has yet 
been received by the Caisse. 

Currency translation 

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate in effect at 
year-end. Other assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates. Statement of 
income items are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. Exchange gains and losses 
are recognized in the statement of income for the year in “Revenues related to the administration 
of other services”. 

Member dividends 

Member dividends are a distribution of net income for the year based on the volume of activity of 
each member. As such, they are recognized on the consolidated statement of income. 

Income taxes 

The Caisse uses the tax asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this 
method, income taxes include both current taxes and deferred taxes. Current taxes represent the 
taxes on the year’s taxable income. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
years are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, 
using the tax rates that were enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
taxes are recognized based on the expected tax consequences of the differences between the 
carrying value of items in the statement of financial position and their tax basis, using the tax 
rates that are enacted or substantively enacted for the years in which the differences are expected 
to reverse. A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that future realization of the tax 
benefit is more likely than not. 

Pension plans 

Until December 31, 2013, the Caisse participated in the Mouvement des caisses populaires 
acadiennes employee pension plan, as part of a multi-employer defined benefit plan that 
guaranteed the payment of pension benefits. Since January 1, 2014, the Caisse participates in 
the Régime de pension à risques partagés des employés d’UNI Coopération financière. Due to the 
conversion to the shared risk pension plan, the Caisse has committed to paying temporary 
contributions under certain conditions. The liability for these payments is determined through an 
analysis of probabilities and is discounted using a yield curve that takes into consideration the 
expected schedule of payments. The liability’s annual interest expense is recorded in net income. 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which 
they arise. These gains and losses are also recognized immediately in the general reserve and 
are not reclassified to net income in a subsequent period. 

  



83 Consolidated Financial Statements
 UNI FINANCIAL COOPERATION

Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 

Page 25 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Pension plans (continued) 

Under the shared risk pension plan, the actuarial and investment risks are assumed by employees. 
As a result, the pension plan is recorded as if it were a defined contribution pension plan. 

The Caisse also participates in two other defined benefit pension plans. Pension plan benefits are 
calculated similarly to those in the shared risk plan. The Caisse accounts for these plans as defined 
benefit plans. The cost of the benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The 
employee benefit liability is measured using an actuarial valuation in accordance with IFRS. 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which 
they arise. These gains and losses are also recognized immediately in the general reserve and 
are not reclassified to net income in a subsequent period. 

The Caisse also offers employees a retirement benefit by way of a lump sum payment. This benefit 
is based on the employee’s salary and the number of years worked within the Caisse. 

Revenue recognition 

Financial income is recognized using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues related to the 
administration of deposits consist primarily of fees relating to payment orders issued without 
sufficient funds and of service fees. These revenues are recognized when the transaction occurs 
in accordance with the prevailing fee agreement with the member. 

Gross premiums for all types of insurance contracts are recognized as revenue when due and the 
amount can be determined objectively. Net premiums represent gross premiums, net of the 
portion ceded to reinsurers. As soon as these premiums are recognized, the related actuarial 
liabilities are calculated so that benefits and expenses of these products are recorded. 

Other income related mainly to the administration of deposits is recognized as revenue when 
services are rendered, either over time or at a specific point in time. Other income related to the 
administration of other services consists mainly of commissions, management fees and 
miscellaneous revenues and is recognized as revenue when services are rendered, either over 
time or at a specific point in time. Some commissions revenues include variable consideration 
based on variable parameters and are recognized as revenue when it is highly probable that no 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will occur. 

 

4. Changes in accounting policies 

These standards or amendments apply to financial statements beginning on or after  
January 1, 2018. 

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue 
arising from contracts with customers other than those that are within the scope of other 
standards, such as insurance contracts, financial instruments and leases. IFRS 15 supersedes 
IAS 18, Revenue, and related interpretations. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured 
approach to measuring and recognizing revenue.  
 
The restatement of comparative periods is not mandatory, as the standard includes an exemption 
under which comparative periods may be presented using the previous accounting framework in 
certain conditions. The Caisse has decided not to restate the comparative periods when adopting 
the provisions of IFRS 15. As a result, the retrospective impact of the application of IFRS 15 has 
been recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position as at January 1, 2018. 
 
The adoption of IFRS 15 did not have any impact on the general reserve as at January 1, 2018. 
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4. Changes in accounting policies 
IFRS 9, Financial instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, Financial instruments, which reflects all 
phases of the financial instruments project and replaces IAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition 
and measurement, and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements 
for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. 

The Caisse has decided not to restate the comparative periods when adopting the provisions of 
IFRS 9.  

The most significant changes related to classification are as follows: 

 The “Available-for-sale” and “Held to maturity” categories have been removed. 
 The “At fair value through other comprehensive income” category has been introduced. 

The instruments classified in this category are debt instruments held to collect contractual 
cash flows and to sell financial instruments. The majority of debt instruments in the 
available-for-sale category have been reclassified to this category. 

 Available-for-sale equity instruments under IAS 39 are now carried at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

 No impact on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. 
 
The change in classification resulted in an increase of the general reserve of $5,476 and a 
decrease of accumulated other comprehensive income of the same amount as at January 1, 2018.  
 
The most significant changes related to impairment are as follows: 

 A new single model of impairment of financial instruments requiring the recognition of 
expected credit losses rather than the incurred losses applies to all financial assets, as 
well as credit commitments and financial guarantee contracts. 

 Single model exception: financial instruments measured or designated at fair value 
through profit or loss and those designated at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. 

The impact of the new impairment model was an increase in the allowance for credit losses on 
loans of $510, an increase of deferred tax assets of $148, and a decrease of $362 of the general 
reserve as at January 1, 2018. Also, an amount of $78, net of income taxes, was transferred from 
accumulated other comprehensive income to the general reserve relating to allowance for credit 
losses on securities. 

The impacts of IFRS 9 adoption are shown in “Impact of IFRS 9 adoption” section, in the table 
showing the impact of new accounting standards adoption on equity as at January 1, 2018. 

IFRS 4, Insurance contracts 

On September 12, 2016, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 4, Insurance contract. This 
amendment, “Applying IFRS 9, Financial instruments with IFRS 4, Insurance contract”, provides 
two options to entities applying IFRS 4: 

 The deferral approach is an optional temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 until 
January 1, 2021 for entities whose predominant activity is issuing contracts within the 
scope of IFRS 4; 

 The overlay approach permits entities to adopt IFRS 9 but adjust some of the impacts 
arising from designated financial assets, those being assets related to the insurance 
contract liabilities. 

The Caisse has analyzed this amendment and is not eligible for the deferral approach for its 
consolidated financial statements. The Caisse will therefore not be able to use the deferral 
approach and has chosen not to apply the overlay approach.  
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4. Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
IFRIC 22, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration 

On December 8, 2016, the IASB published Interpretation IFRIC 22, Foreign currency transactions 
and advance consideration. This interpretation provides guidance on the exchange rate to use in 
transactions that involve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency. No impact 
on the consolidated financial statements. 

Impact of IFRS 9 adoption 

The following table presents the impact of the adoption of this standard on the Caisse’s 
consolidated statement of financial position as at January 1, 2018: 

 
            

  

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2017  

Allowance for 
expected 

credit losses  
Allowance on 

securities  

Classification 
of financial 

instruments  
Balance as at 

January 1, 2018 

 

  $  $  $  $  $  
            
Assets             
Cash  100,193  —  —  —  100,193  
Securities  587,776  —  —  —  587,776  
Loans  3,209,230  —  —  —  3,209,230  
Allowance for 

credit losses 
 

(24,530 ) (510 ) —  —  (25,040 ) 
Deferred taxes  18,386  148  —  —  18,534  
Other assets  109,023  —  —  —  109,023  
  4,000,078  (362 ) —  —  3,999,716  
            
Liabilities             
Deposits  3,255,542  —  —  —  3,255,542  
Other liabilities   346,009  —  —  —  346,009  
Equity            
Share capital   4,426  —  —  —  4,426  
Accumulated other 

comprehensive 
income 

 

3,757  —  78  (5,476 ) (1,641 ) 
General reserve  390,344  (362 ) (78 ) 5,476  395,380  
  4,000,078  (362 ) —  —  3,999,716  
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4. Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
Impact of IFRS 9 adoption (continued) 

The following table presents the effects of IFRS 9 adoption on equity: 

 

  
General 
reserve  

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income  

  $  $  
      
Balance as at December 31, 2017  390,344  3,757  
Reclassification to new measurement categories under  
 IFRS 9   5,476   (5,476 ) 
Recognition of expected credit losses on financial assets   (440 ) 78  
Balance as at January 1, 2018  395,380  (1,641 ) 
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4.  Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
Impact of IFRS 9 adoption (continued) 

The following table presents the impact of IFRS 9 adoption on classification and measurement of 
financial instruments as at January 1, 2018: 

  
Carrying 
value 
under 
IAS 39 

Carrying 
value 
under 
IFRS 9 

Classification 
under IAS 39 

Classification 
under IFRS 9 

Ref. 

 $ $    

Financial assets 
     

Cash  100,193    100,193  Loans and 
receivables 

Amortized cost 
 

      

Securities 
     

Term deposits   19,499  19,499  Loans and 
receivables 

Amortized cost 
 

Money market 
securities – Former 
Federation and not 
matched 

  19,046   19,046  Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

At fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income 

a), c) 

Money market 
securities – Matched 

643  643  Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

 

Bonds – Former 
Federation 

252,795     252,795  Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

At fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income 

a), c) 

Bonds – Matched 151,075    151,075  Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

 

Asset-backed term 
notes 

171  171  Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

At fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income 

a), c) 

Equities – Matched   20,494     20,494  Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

At fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

 

Investment funds – 
Matched 

 33,951    33,951  Designated at fair 
value through profit 
or loss under fair 
value option 

At fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

 

Money market 
securities – Other 

    3,792    3,792  Available-for-sale At fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income 
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4.  Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
Impact of IFRS 9 adoption (continued) 

  
Carrying 
value 
under 
IAS 39 

Carrying 
value under 
IFRS 9 

Classification 
under IAS 39 

Classification 
under IFRS 9 

Ref. 

 $ $    

Bonds – Others    66,430      66,430  Available-for-sale At fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income 

 

Equities – Not 
matched 

 12,192      12,192  Available-for-sale At fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

b) 

Investment funds – 
Not matched 

   7,688    7,688  Available-for-sale At fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

b) 

 
 587,776  587,776  

   

      

Loans    3,209,230    3,209,230  Loans and 
receivables 

Amortized cost 
 

Allowance for 
credit losses 

(24,530)      (25,040)  Loans and 
receivables 

Amortized cost d) 
      

Other assets 
     

Derivative financial 
instruments 

     30,459      30,459  At fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

At fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

 

Other assets items   14,791      14,791  Loans and 
receivables 

Amortized cost 
 

      

      

Financial liabilities 
     

Deposits (3,255,542)  (3,255,542) 
  

Other financial 
liabilities 

Amortized cost 
 

      

Other liabilities      

Derivative financial 
instruments 

(15,385)    (15,385)  At fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

At fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

 

Other liabilities items (49,870) (49,870) Other financial 
liabilities 

Amortized cost  

 
a) As at December 31, 2017, these debt securities were designated at fair value through profit or loss 

under the fair value option. As at January 1, 2018, as allowed by transition provisions of IFRS 9, the 
Caisse has decided to cancel this designation and has classified these securities at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, as (1) the holding of these financial assets is in accordance with a 
business model whose objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows and the sale 
and (2) the contractual terms of such debt securities give rise to cash flows that correspond solely to 
payments of principal and interest payments on the principal outstanding. An amount of $2,872, net of 
income taxes, was reclassified from the general reserve to accumulated other comprehensive income as 
unrealized gain. 
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4.  Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
Impact of IFRS 9 adoption (continued) 

 
b) As at December 31, 2017, these equity securities were classified as available-for-sale. They were 

accounted for at fair value and the change in fair value was recognized in other comprehensive income. 
As at January 1, 2018, these equity securities are classified at fair value through profit or loss as, under 
IFRS 9, all investments in equity instruments, other than those designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income without further reclassification of gains and losses in net income, should be 
classified at fair value through profit or loss. An amount of $2,604, net of income taxes, was reclassified 
from accumulated other comprehensive income to the general reserve as unrealized gain. 

 
c) As at January 1, 2018, the Caisse has classified as fair value through other comprehensive income certain 

debt securities that were previously accounted for at fair value through profit or loss as at 
December 31, 2017, under the fair value option. The fair value of these debt securities as at 
December 31, 2018 is $310,323 and the change in fair value that would have been recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2018 would have been a gain of 
$264.  

 
d) As at January 1, 2018, the Caisse has remeasured the allowance for expected credit losses on loans, in 

accordance with IFRS 9, which increased this allowance by $510. 
 

5. Future accounting changes 

Accounting standards and amendments issued by the IASB but not yet effective as at 
December 31, 2018, are presented below.  

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts 

On May 18, 2017, the IASB published the standard IFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which replaces 
the provisions of the standard IFRS 4, Insurance contracts. The standard IFRS 17: 

 has an objective to ensure that an entity provides relevant information that faithfully 
represents those contracts and gives a basis for users of financial statements to assess 
the effect that insurance contracts have on the financial position, income statement and 
cash flows statement; 

 establishes the principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure; 
 defines a general model and a variable fee approach applicable to all insurance contracts 

and reinsurance contracts to measure the insurance contract liabilities; 
 defines a specific model for contracts of one year or less. 

The provisions of this new standard will apply retrospectively to each group of insurance contracts 
and if, and only if, impracticable, an entity shall apply the modified retrospective or fair value 
approach to financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2021. Early adoption is 
permitted if IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers 
are previously applied. 

The Caisse is evaluating the impact on presentation, disclosure and measurement of the insurance 
contract liabilities that this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements. 
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5. Future accounting changes (continued) 
IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements and IAS 28, Investments in associates and joint 

ventures 

On September 16, 2014, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 10, Consolidated financial 
statements and to IAS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures. This amendment, “Sale 
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture”, clarifies the 
accounting for the gain or loss resulting from loss of control or from transfer of assets following a 
transaction with an associate or joint venture.  

The provisions of this amendment will apply prospectively to the consolidated financial statements 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016. In December 2015, the IASB published an amendment 
which defers the application to consolidated financial statements beginning on or after a date yet 
to be determined. Early adoption is permitted. 

The Caisse has completed the analysis of this amendment and concluded that it will not have an 
impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 16, Leases 

In January 2016, the IASB published IFRS 16, Leases, that requires that companies record most 
lease contracts in their statement of financial position. Under this new standard, lessees will record 
assets and liabilities for the majority of their lease contracts. Lessor accounting however remains 
largely unchanged. The provisions of this new standard will apply retrospectively or on a modified 
retrospective basis to financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Early adoption 
is permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers is previously applied. 

The Caisse is currently evaluating the impact of this standard and plans to adopt the new standard 
on the mandatory effective date. 

IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments 

On June 7, 2017, the IASB published Interpretation IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax 
treatments. This interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement 
requirement in IAS 12, Income taxes when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. An 
entity shall recognize and measure its current or deferred tax asset or liability applying the 
requirement of IAS 12 based on taxable profit (taxable loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused 
tax credits and tax rates determined applying this interpretation. The provisions of this 
interpretation will apply retrospectively or on a modified retrospective basis to financial 
statements beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. 

The Caisse is currently evaluating the impact of this interpretation on its consolidated financial 
statements. 

IFRS 9, Financial instruments 

On October 12, 2017, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 9, Financial instruments. The 
amendment Prepayment features with negative compensation enables entities to measure at 
amortized cost some prepayable financial assets with so-called negative compensation. The 
provisions of this amendment will apply retrospectively to financial statements beginning on or 
after January 1, 2019. Early adoption is permitted.  

The Caisse is currently evaluating the impact of this amendment on its consolidated financial 
statements.  
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5. Future accounting changes (continued) 
IAS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures 

On October 12, 2017, the IASB published an amendment to IAS 28, Investments in associates 
and joint ventures. The amendment Long-term interest in associates and joint ventures clarifies 
the situation where an entity applies the equity method and owns long-term interests that meet 
the criteria to be qualified in substance as long-term net investments. This amendment applies 
more specifically to shares when there are losses that must be absorbed by long-term interests. 
The provisions of this amendment will apply retrospectively to financial statements beginning on 
or after January 1, 2019. Early adoption is permitted.  

The Caisse is currently evaluating the impact of this amendment on its consolidated financial 
statements.  

IAS 19, Employee benefits 

On February 7, 2018, the IASB published an amendment to IAS 19, Employee benefits. The 
amendment Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement clarifies, for defined benefit pension 
plans, when changes require a revaluation of the net cost of assets and liabilities involved. The 
amendment requires the entity to use the adjusted assumptions resulting from the reassessment 
to determine the cost of services rendered during the period and the net interest for the period 
following the changes made to the pension plans or the revaluation. The provisions of this 
amendment will apply prospectively to financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 
Early adoption is permitted.  

The Caisse is currently evaluating the impact of this amendment on its consolidated financial 
statements.  

Conceptual framework for financial reporting 

On March 29, 2018, the IASB published a revised version of the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting. The IASB decided to revise the Conceptual Framework because important 
issues were not addressed and some indications were outdated or unclear. This revised version 
includes, among other things, a new chapter on valuation, guidance on the presentation of 
financial performance and improved definitions of an asset and a liability and guidance in support 
of those definitions. The Conceptual Framework helps entities to develop their accounting method 
when no IFRS is applicable to a specific situation. The provisions will apply prospectively to 
financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. 

The Caisse is currently evaluating the impact of this revision on its consolidated financial 
statements.  

IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and IAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in 
accounting estimates and errors 

On October 31, 2018, the IASB published an amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of financial 
statements and IAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors. The 
amendment, Definition of material, clarifies the definition of material in IAS 1, the explanation 
accompanying that definition and aligns the definitions used across IFRS standards. The provisions 
of this amendment will apply prospectively to financial statements beginning on or after 
January 1, 2020. Early adoption is permitted.  

The Caisse is currently evaluating the impact of this amendment on its consolidated financial 
statements.  
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6. Loans and allowance for credit losses 
Carrying value of loans and allowance for expected credit losses  

The following table presents the carrying value of the loans, the exposure amount of the credit 
commitments and the balances of their respective allowance according to the stage in which they 
are classified: 

 
 Not impaired  Impaired   2018  

 

Next 12 months 
expected credit 

losses   
Lifetime expected 

credit losses 

 
Lifetime expected 

credit losses Total  

 

Gross 
carrying 

value   Allowance  

Gross 
carrying 

value   Allowance  

Gross 
carrying 

value  Allowance 

Gross 
carrying 

value  Allowance  

 $  $  $  $  $  $ $  $  

                
Personal – 

Residential 
mortgages 1,563,722  1,343  75,272  807  14,502  1,244 1,653,496  3,394  

Personal – 
Consumer and 
other  494,133  3,016  26,798  2,402  4,355  3,204 525,286  8,622  

Business 860,665  1,082  261,942  3,939  31,939  8,955 1,154,546  13,976  

Total loans  2,918,520  5,441  364,012  7,148  50,796  13,403 3,333,328  25,992  

Total credit 
commitments 734,831  421  45,996  132  9,397  — 790,224  553  
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6. Loans and allowance for credit losses (continued) 
Allowance for credit losses  

The following tables show the changes of the allowance for expected credit losses on loans and 
credit commitments.  
 
Personal – Residential mortgages 
 
 
 Not impaired  Impaired   2018  

 

Next 12 
months 

allowance for 
credit losses   

Lifetime 
allowance for 
credit losses  

Lifetime 
allowance for 
credit losses  

Allowance for 
credit losses  

 $  $  $  $  
         
As at January 1st  1,280  612  1,293  3,185  
Transfer to measurement of 

expected credit losses 
for: 
Next 12 months 379  (268 ) (111 ) —  
Lifetime – Loans not 

impaired (314 ) 323  (9 ) —  
Lifetime – Impaired loans (36 ) (39 ) 75  —  

Remeasurement  (271 ) 256  1,171  1,156  
New exposures 489  —  —  489  
Derecognition (123 ) (66 ) (563 ) (752 ) 

Write-off —  —  (612 ) (612 ) 

As at December 31 1,404  818  1,244  3,466  

Total on loans 1,343  807  1,244  3,394  
Total on credit commitments 61  11  —  72  
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6. Loans and allowance for credit losses (continued) 
Allowance for credit losses (continued)  
 
Personal – Consumer and other 
 
 
 Not impaired  Impaired   2018  

 

Next 12 
months 

allowance for 
credit losses   

Lifetime 
allowance for 
credit losses  

Lifetime 
allowance for 
credit losses  

Allowance for 
credit losses  

 $  $  $  $  
         
As at January 1st  3,324  2,278  3,244  8,846  
Transfer to measurement of 

expected credit losses 
for: 
Next 12 months 1,269  (849 ) (420 ) —  
Lifetime – Loans not 

impaired (690 ) 1,036  (346 ) —  
Lifetime – Impaired loans (240 ) (332 ) 572  —  

Remeasurement  (1,503 ) 581  4,135  3,213  
New exposures 1,516  —  —  1,516  
Derecognition (378 ) (276 ) (249 ) (903 ) 

Write-off —  —  (3,732 ) (3,732 ) 

As at December 31 3,298  2,438  3,204  8,940  

Total on loans 3,016  2,402  3,204  8,622  
Total on credit commitments 282  36  —  318  

 



95 Consolidated Financial Statements
 UNI FINANCIAL COOPERATION

Caisse populaire acadienne ltée 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
December 31, 2018 
(In thousands of dollars) 

Page 37 

6. Loans and allowance for credit losses (continued) 
Allowance for credit losses (continued)  
 
Business 
 
 
 Not impaired  Impaired   2018  

 

Next 12 
months 

allowance for 
credit losses   

Lifetime 
allowance for 
credit losses  

Lifetime 
allowance for 
credit losses  

Allowance for 
credit losses  

 $  $  $  $  
         
As at January 1st  1,160  4,047  8,254  13,461  
Transfer to measurement of 

expected credit losses 
for: 
Next 12 months 561  (561 ) —  —  
Lifetime – Loans not 

impaired (1,037 ) 1,460  (423 ) —  
Lifetime – Impaired loans (540 ) (399 ) 939  —  

Remeasurement  (689 ) 301  789  401  
New exposures 1,795  —  —  1,795  
Derecognition (90 ) (824 ) (350 ) (1,264 ) 

Write-off —  —  (254 ) (254 ) 

As at December 31 1,160  4,024  8,955  14,139  

Total on loans 1,082  3,939  8,955  13,976  
Total on credit commitments 78  85  —  163  
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6. Loans and allowance for credit losses (continued) 
Loans by category of borrowers 

   2017  
   $  
     
Personal     
 Residential mortgages   1,617,658  
 Consumer and other   526,132  
Business   1,065,440  
   3,209,230  

Loans, impaired loans and allowance for credit losses 

 2017  
 Personal      

 
Residential 
mortgages  

Consumer 
and other  Business  Total  

 $  $  $  $  
         
Loans, neither past due nor 
 impaired, gross 1,583,557  514,532  1,034,961  3,133,050  
Loans, past due but not 
 impaired, gross 30,040  7,501  5,511  43,052  
Gross impaired loans 4,061  4,099  24,968  33,128  
Total gross loans 1,617,658  526,132  1,065,440  3,209,230  
         
Individual allowances (1,292 ) (3,245 ) (8,254 ) (12,791 ) 
Collective allowance (383 ) (3,288 ) (8,068 ) (11,739 ) 
Total net loans 1,615,983  519,599  1,049,118  3,184,700  
         
Past due loans are loans for which the counterparty has failed to make a payment when 
contractually due. Past due loans presented in the table below are not classified as impaired since 
they are past due for less than 90 days or are secured so that it is reasonable to expect a full 
recovery.  
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6. Loans and allowance for credit losses (continued) 
Gross loans, past due but not impaired 

 2018  

 
From 1 to 

29 days  
From 30 to 

59 days  
From 60 to 

89 days  

90 days 
and 

greater  Total  
 $  $  $  $  $  
           
Personal           
 Residential  
  mortgages 20,337  4,387  1,363  —  26,087  
 Consumer and 
  other 5,832  1,863  484  13  8,192  
Business 4,353  610  15  —  4,978  
 30,522  6,860  1,862  13  39,257  
           
 2017  

 
From 1 to 

29 days  
From 30 to 

59 days  
From 60 to 

89 days  
90 days and 

greater  Total 
 

 $  $  $  $  $  
           
Personal           
 Residential  
  mortgages 19,793  3,722  2,151  4,374  30,040  
 Consumer and 
  other 5,931  1,156  403  11  7,501  
Business 4,290  1,092  129  —  5,511  
 30,014  5,970  2,683  4,385  43,052  

Impaired loans and individual allowances 

 2017  

 Gross  
Individual 

allowances  Net  
 $  $  $  
Personal       
 Residential mortgages 4,061  (1,292 ) 2,769  
 Consumer and other 4,099  (3,245 ) 854  
Business 24,968  (8,254 ) 16,714  
 33,128  (12,791 ) 20,337  
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6. Loans and allowance for credit losses (continued) 
Change in the allowance for credit losses 

     2017  
 Personal  Business  Total  
 $  $  $  
       
Individual allowances, beginning of year 3,318  7,930  11,248  
Provision for credit losses 5,659  2,289  7,948  
Write-offs and other (4,440 ) (1,965 ) (6,405 ) 
Individual allowances, end of year 4,537  8,254  12,791  
       
Collective allowance, beginning of year     12,761  
Provision for credit losses     (1,433 ) 
Other     411  
Collective allowance, end of year     11,739  
     24,530  

Loans securitization 

As part of its liquidity and capital management strategy, the Caisse participates in the 
National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities Program. Under this program, the Caisse 
bundles residential mortgage loans guaranteed by the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
(“CMHC”) into mortgage-backed securities (“NHA MBS”) and transfers them to the Canada 
Housing Trust (“CHT”). The Caisse may not subsequently transfer or sell these assets or pledge 
them as collateral, since they have been sold to the CHT, and it may not repurchase them before 
maturity. The Caisse treats these transfers as collateralized financing transactions and recognizes 
a liability in that respect because it substantially retains certain prepayment and interest risks. 
This liability is equal to the consideration received from the CMHC for the loans that do not meet 
the derecognition criteria. For its part, the CHT funds these purchases by issuing Canada Mortgage 
Bonds (“CMB”) to investors. The legal guarantee of third parties holding CMB is limited to the 
transferred assets. 

The following table presents the securitized loans as well as the related liabilities: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Securitized mortgage loans 154,597  103,081  
Related liabilities (Note 11) 125,291  86,314  
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7. Accrued interest, receivables and other assets 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Accrued interest 10,931  9,986  
Prepaid expenses 9,438  9,690  
Receivables 5,250  4,805  
Foreclosed assets 861  733  
Other 755  432  
 27,235  25,646  

8. Property and equipment 

 Land  Buildings  
Equipment 
and other  Total  

         
         
Cost         
 December 31, 2016 7,621  50,082  36,311  94,014  
  Acquisitions  —  237  2,209  2,446  
  Dispositions and write-offs (182 ) (835 ) (270 ) (1,287 ) 
         
 December 31, 2017 7,439  49,484  38,250  95,173  
  Acquisitions —  407  1,284  1,691  
  Dispositions and write-offs (2 ) (19 ) (67 ) (88 ) 
         
 December 31, 2018 7,437  49,872  39,467  96,776  
         
Accumulated depreciation         
 December 31, 2016  —  29,111  29,050  58,161  
  Depreciation  —  1,441  1,883  3,324  
  Dispositions and write-offs  —   (713 ) (215 ) (928 ) 
         
 December 31, 2017  —  29,839  30,718  60,557  
  Depreciation —  1,336  2,036  3,372  
  Dispositions and write-offs —  (12 ) (8 ) (20 ) 
         
 December 31, 2018 —  31,163  32,746  63,909  
         
Net book value         
 December 31, 2018 7,437  18,709  6,721  32,867  
 December 31, 2017 7,439  19,645  7,532  34,616  
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9. Intangible assets 

 
Acquired 
software  

Internally 
generated 

software  
 

Total  
 $  $  $  
       
Cost       
 December 31, 2016 11,704  1,844  13,548  
  Acquisitions 1,869  640  2,509  
  Dispositions and write-offs (200 )  (298 ) (498 ) 
       
 December 31, 2017 13,373  2,186  15,559  
  Acquisitions 5,183  30  5,213  
  Dispositions and write-offs (864 ) —  (864 ) 
       
 December 31, 2018 17,692  2,216  19,908  
       
Accumulated amortization       
 December 31, 2016 3,338  989  4,327  
  Amortization 1,111  530  1,641  
  Dispositions and write-offs —  (256 ) (256 ) 
       
 December 31, 2017 4,449  1,263  5,712  
  Amortization  2,146  59  2,205  
  Dispositions and write-offs (864 ) —  (864 ) 
       
 December 31, 2018 5,731  1,322  7,053  
       
Net book value       
 December 31, 2018 11,961  894  12,855  
 December 31, 2017 8,924  923  9,847  
       
Acquired software includes an amount of $590 (2017 — $934) for software that was not amortized 
since it was not in use at December 31. Internally generated software included an amount of $114 
in 2017 for software that was not amortized since it was in development at December 31. 
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10. Actuarial liabilities 
a) Nature 

Actuarial liabilities represent the estimated amount that, together with future premiums and 
net investment income, will be adequate to cover future benefits and expenses related to 
existing insurance contracts. Actuarial liabilities are determined using the Canadian Asset 
Liability Method, in accordance with Canadian accepted actuarial practice, as set out by the 
Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”). 

The calculation of the actuarial liabilities necessarily includes the risk that actual results could 
deviate from the best estimates. This risk varies in proportion to the length of the estimation 
period and the possible instability of the factors used for calculating the liability. The 
appointed actuary is required to add to each assumption a margin to reflect the uncertainty 
of the determination of the best estimates and the risk of deteriorating results.  

b) Composition 

The CIA prescribes the range of acceptable margins. The appointed actuary must evaluate 
various scenarios using a cash flow projection method to establish a margin for adverse 
deviation that adequately covers the risks, including interest rate risk. This provision is 
recorded in future income when it is no longer required to cover estimation error. If the 
estimates of future conditions change during the term of a contract, the present value of the 
changes is recognized immediately in the statement of income. 

The composition of the Caisse’s actuarial liabilities is as follows: 

 2018  

 
Actuarial 
liabilities  

Reinsurance 
assets  Net amount  

 $  $  $  
       
 Personal life insurance 91,993  7,338  84,655  
 Group and health insurance (3,081 ) 791  (3,872 ) 
 Annuities 73,732  —  73,732  
 162,644  8,129  154,515  
       
 2017  

 
Actuarial 
liabilities  

Reinsurance 
assets  Net amount  

 $  $  $  
       
 Personal life insurance 93,777  7,715  86,062  
 Group and health insurance (2,264 ) 740  (3,004 ) 
 Annuities 78,914  —  78,914  
 170,427  8,455  161,972  
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10. Actuarial liabilities (continued) 
b) Composition (continued) 

The assets covering the actuarial liabilities include in the following: 

 2018  
 Life insurance  Annuities  Total  
 $  $  $  
       
 Bonds and short-term securities 68,422  73,732  142,154  
 Investment funds 12,361  —  12,361  
 Reinsurance assets 8,129  —  8,129  
 88,912  73,732  162,644  
       
 2017  
 Life insurance  Annuities  Total  
 $  $  $  
       
 Bonds and short-term securities 69,274  78,914  148,188  
 Investment funds 13,784  —  13,784  
 Reinsurance assets 8,455  —  8,455  
 91,513  78,914  170,427  

c) Actuarial assumptions 

In calculating the actuarial liabilities, the assumptions have been established based on 
estimates for the duration of the contracts. The nature of the most significant assumptions 
and the methods used to establish them are described in the following paragraphs. Each of 
the assumptions has a margin for adverse deviation. 

 Mortality 

The mortality assumption is based on a combination of the Caisse’s most recent experience 
and the industry’s recent experience as published by the CIA. An increase (a decrease for 
annuities) of 1% in the most likely assumption would result in an increase of approximately 
$577 in the actuarial liabilities (2017 — $650). 

 Morbidity 

The morbidity assumption is based on the Caisse’s experience and other companies with 
similar population characteristics. The majority of products for which a morbidity assumption 
is significant consists of products whose premiums can be adjusted to reflect the Caisse’s 
actual experience. In the case of products for which morbidity has a significant effect, a 
deterioration of 1% in the most likely assumption would not have a significant impact on the 
actuarial liabilities. 
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10. Actuarial liabilities (continued) 
c) Actuarial assumptions (continued) 

 Investment income 

The calculation of the actuarial liabilities reflects the projected net investment income from 
the assets covering the liabilities. It also takes into account the income that the Caisse 
expects to earn on reinvestment or forego to finance the mismatch in the timing of cash 
flows. Interest rate and credit risk projections include some uncertainty. The Caisse considers 
this uncertainty by including margins for credit risk in its projections of investment income 
and by evaluating future interest rate scenarios. Projected investment returns are reduced 
in anticipation of future credit losses on assets.  

One way to measure the interest rate risk associated with these assumptions is to determine 
the effect of an immediate increase or decrease of 1% of interest rates on the present value 
of net projected cash flows of the assets and liabilities related to the Caisse’s personal 
insurance activities. These changes in interest rates would impact the projected cash flows. 
An immediate increase of 1% in interest rates would result in a decrease in the fair value of 
the assets matched to the liabilities of approximately $21,300 (2017 — $21,800) and a 
decrease in the corresponding liabilities of $23,000 (2017 — $23,800), resulting in a net 
positive impact of $1,700 (2017 — $2,000) on income before taxes for the year. An 
immediate decrease of 1% in interest rates would result in an increase in the fair value of 
the assets matched to the liabilities of approximately $25,400 (2017 — $26,100) and an 
increase in the corresponding liabilities of $27,800 (2017 — $28,600), resulting in a net 
negative impact of $2,400 (2017 — $2,500) on income before taxes for the year. 

 Expenses 

Amounts are included in the actuarial liabilities for the costs of administering the existing 
contracts, including the cost of premium collection, the granting and processing of benefits, 
periodic actuarial calculations, preparation and sending of statements, related indirect 
expenses, renewal commissions and general expenses.  

The projections of expenses consider estimates of variables such as inflation, productivity 
and indirect tax rates. An increase of 1% in the most likely assumption of policy management 
expenses would increase the actuarial liabilities by approximately $240 (2017 — $268). 

 Policy lapse or cancellation rates 

Policyholders can choose to allow their policy to lapse by ceasing to pay their premiums. 
The Caisse bases its estimate of policy lapse rates on the past performance of each of its 
business lines. A business line is considered to be based on policy lapses if an increase in the 
policy lapse rate is accompanied by an increase in profitability. However, if a decrease in the 
policy lapse rate is accompanied by an increase in profitability, the business line is not 
considered to be based on policy lapses. 

The lapse assumptions reflect the Caisse’s experience and the industry.  

d) Uncertainty of measurement (margins for adverse deviations) 

The basic assumptions used in establishing actuarial liabilities represent best estimates of 
the range of possible outcomes. Actuaries must include in each assumption a margin to 
recognize the uncertainty surrounding the establishment of best estimates, to take into 
account a possible deterioration in experience and to provide better assurance that the 
actuarial liabilities will be sufficient to pay future benefits. The CIA prescribes a range of 
allowable margins. The margins used are at least in the middle of the suggested range. 
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10. Actuarial liabilities (continued) 
e) Change in actuarial liabilities  

The following table shows the changes in actuarial liabilities over the last two fiscal years: 

 2018  2017  

 
Actuarial 
liabilities  

Reinsurance 
assets  

Actuarial 
liabilities  

Reinsurance 
assets  

 $  $  $  $  
         
Balance, beginning of year 170,427  8,455  158,741  7,234  
 Normal increase (decrease)  
  for         
  Existing contracts (4,456 ) (159 ) 15,929  1,431  
  New contracts (1,685 ) (85 ) (1,917 ) (95 ) 
  Changes in assumptions 

  and methods (1,642 ) (82 ) (2,326 ) (115 ) 
 (7,783 ) (326 ) 11,686  1,221  
Balance, end of year 162,644  8,129  170,427  8,455  

f) Changes in actuarial assumptions and methods 

The economic and non-economic assumptions taken into account in the computation of 
actuarial liabilities are periodically updated to reflect the actual or projected underwriting 
experience associated with each of them. The following table presents the impact on actuarial 
liabilities of changes made to assumptions for the years ended December 31: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
 Mortality  —  (1,103 ) 
 Transformation costs —  (726 ) 
 Contract cancellation rates —  793  
 Operating expenses  (2,388 ) (741 ) 
 Methods and other  828  (434 ) 
 (1,560 ) (2,211 ) 
     

Regarding the actuarial assumptions used in the establishment of actuarial liabilities, various 
studies are made annually to reflect the most up-to-date data possible. At the end of 2017, 
some assumptions were thus updated, in addition to some improvements to the valuation 
model. We note among others:  

 Operating expenses 

Expenses in 2018 were lower than in the past as expected and this trend is expected to 
continue in the future with the reallocation of some expenses to the Caisse and more realistic 
service offerings. The assumption for future expenses has therefore been revised downwards 
to reflect this new context both for individual life insurance and for credit life insurance.  
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10. Actuarial liabilities (continued) 
f) Changes in actuarial assumptions and methods 

 Methods and other 

Corrections were made to the valuation model to better categorize the obligations held by 
the Caisse. Also, various minor fixes were made to the model in order to better represent 
the different characteristics of the products.  

11.  Borrowings 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Securitization loans, guaranteed by mortgage loans as 
 described in Note 6, repayable at maturity, interest payable 
 semi-annually at rates of 1.20% to 2.55%, maturities from 
 December 2019 to December 2023. 125,291  83,314  
     
The projected loan principal repayments for the next five years are as follows: 

2019 21,707 
2020 40,794 
2021 3,950 
2022 19,724 
2023 39,116 
  

The Caisse also has an operating credit facility with an authorized amount of $12,500 bearing 
interest at the prime rate plus 0.75% and renewable annually, an operating credit facility with an 
authorized amount of $50,000, bearing interest at the cost of funds plus 0.45% and renewable 
in December 2019, a revolving term loan with an authorized amount of $100,000, bearing interest 
at the cost of funds plus 0.95% and renewable in December 2021, and a revolving term loan with 
an authorized amount of $100,000, bearing interest at the cost of funds plus 1.05% and 
renewable in December 2023. As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, these facilities were undrawn. 

12. Accrued interest, payables and other liabilities 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Accrued interest 15,670  17,702  
Payables 53,909  30,886  
Deferred revenue 457  171  
Employee benefit liability (Note 13) 21,548  23,402  
Liabilities for pending and unreported claims 988  733  
Investment contract liabilities 2  46  
Other 584  503  
 93,158  73,443  
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13. Employee benefit liability 
Until December 31, 2013, the Caisse participated in a funded defined benefit pension plan through 
the Mouvement des caisses populaires acadiennes employee pension plan, date at which the plan 
was converted to a shared risk pension plan for the active employees. For those already retired, 
annuities were purchased in 2014 by the pension plan from an insurance company and the plan 
was thus wound up. 

In addition, the Caisse participates in two other unfunded defined benefit pension plans. 
Therefore, the Caisse records, on the consolidated statement of financial position, the liability for 
these supplementary plans. Benefits under these other two plans were modified and are calculated 
similarly to those in the shared risk plan. 

Principal actuarial assumptions 

The principal actuarial assumptions used in measuring the defined benefit obligation are as 
follows: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Discount rate 3.59%  3.40%  
Expected rate of salary increases 3.50%  3.50%  
Mortality CPM  CPM-  
 2014-MI-

2017  
2014-B 

 
 Public  Public  

Defined benefit pension plans 

The following tables show the liabilities and costs recognized in respect of the defined benefit 
pension plans for the Caisse. 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Change in the defined benefit plan obligation     
 Defined benefit plan obligation at beginning of year 5,299  4,781  
 Current service cost 203  338  
 Interest expense 177  187  
 Benefits paid (346 ) (204 ) 
 Actuarial losses (gains) arising from     
  Plan experience (1 ) (20 ) 
  Changes in financial assumptions (102 ) 217  

 Changes in demographic assumptions 20  —  
     
Defined benefit plan obligation at end of year, accounting 
 deficit and defined benefit plan liability 5,250  5,299  
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13. Employee benefit liability (continued) 
Expense recognized for defined benefit plans 

The amounts recognized in the statement of income under “Salaries and employee benefits” for 
the year ended December 31 are as follows: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Current service cost 203  338  
Interest expense 177  187  
Expense recognized in the statement of income 380  525  
     
The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31 are as 
follows: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Gains (losses) for the year 83  (197 ) 

Sensitivity of key assumptions 

Due to the long-term nature of employee benefits, there are significant uncertainties in 
recognizing balances related to the assumptions made.  

The following table shows the impact of a one percentage point change in the discount rate on 
the defined benefit plan obligation at December 31: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Discount rate     
Increase of 1% (509 ) (501 ) 
Decrease of 1% 587  575  
     
Expected rate of salary increases     
Increase of 1% 77  37  
     
Mortality rate      
Decrease of 1% 57  53  
 
The above sensitivity analysis was developed using a method that extrapolates the impact on the 
defined benefit plan obligation of reasonable changes in the significant assumptions at the closing 
date. 

Expected contributions for 2019 

The Caisse expects to contribute $346 to the defined benefit pension plans in the next year. 
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13. Employee benefit liability (continued) 
Other employee benefit liability 

Due to the conversion to the shared risk pension plan, the Caisse has committed to paying 
temporary contributions of $3,000 per year for 10 years starting in 2014, or until the funding 
ratio reaches 140%. A liability for these payments has been determined through an analysis of 
probabilities that considers multiple scenarios and has been discounted using a yield curve that 
takes into consideration the expected schedule of payments. Since it is only an estimate, the 
amount of the liability could change in the future. 

The following table shows the recorded liability and costs of this commitment. 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Liability at the beginning of the year 15,292  18,300  
Interest expense recorded in the statement of income 492  571  
Actuarial losses (gains) recorded in other comprehensive 
 income 808  (579 ) 
Contributions paid (3,000 ) (3,000 ) 
Liability at the end of the year 13,592  15,292  
 

Other retirement benefits 

The Caisse also offers to some of its employees a benefit in the form of a one-time payment upon 
retirement. This benefit is based on the salary and the number of years worked for the Caisse at 
the time of retirement. The liability recorded for these benefits amounts to $2,706 (2017 — 
$2,811). 

Amount recognized under “Employee benefit liability” 

The “Employee benefit liability” in Note 12 consists of the following: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Liability for pension plans 5,250  5,299  
Liability for temporary contributions 13,592  15,292  
Liability for other retirement benefits 2,706  2,811  
 21,548  23,402  

Shared risk pension plan 

During the year, the Caisse contributed $4,966 (2017 — $5,200) to the shared risk pension plan. 
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14. Share capital 
Authorized 

The share capital is made up of membership shares. 

The Caisse may issue an unlimited number of membership shares, redeemable under certain 
conditions stipulated in the Bank Act, in the By-laws and in the articles of incorporation of the 
Caisse. Members have only one vote regardless of the number of membership shares they must 
buy and hold according to the requirements set out in the By-laws of the Caisse. 

The shares issued and paid are distributed as follows: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Membership shares 4,367  4,426  
     

 

15. Accumulated other comprehensive income 
Accumulated other comprehensive income includes unrealized losses of $1,932 (2017 — gains of 
$5,256) on fair value through other comprehensive income instruments (available-for-sale prior 
to IFRS 9 adoption) less income taxes of $560 (2017 — $1,499). 

16. Net insurance and annuity premiums 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Gross insurance and annuity premiums 20,574  20,838  
Premiums ceded to reinsurers (1,865 ) (1,848 ) 
 18,709  18,990  

17. Net insurance and annuity benefits 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Gross insurance benefits 8,466  7,377  
Benefits ceded to reinsurers (1,496 ) (956 ) 
Annuity benefits 4,739  4,934  
Change in actuarial liabilities (7,783 ) 11,686  
Change in reinsurance assets 326  (1,221 ) 
 4,252  21,820  
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18. Other items 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
Gains (losses) arising from the recognition of the following 
 items at fair value:     
 Derivative financial instruments 3,714  (11,268 ) 
     
 

19. Income taxes 
Income taxes for the years presented in the consolidated statement of income are composed of 
the following elements: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
Consolidated statement of income     
Current 
Income tax expense for the year 3,725  3,084  
     
Deferred income taxes     
Creation and reversal of temporary differences 1,934  (1,294 ) 
Total income tax expense 5,659  1,790  
     
Other comprehensive income     
Current (277 ) 465  
Deferred 143  (393 ) 
Total income taxes included in other comprehensive 

income (134 ) 72  
 

The provision for income taxes in the consolidated statement of income differs from that 
established by application of the Canadian statutory tax rate for the following reasons: 

 2018  2017  
 $  %  $  %  
         
Income taxes at the statutory rate 5,786  29.0  1,757  29.0  
Small business deduction, used by
 some entities of the Caisse —  —  (73 ) (1.2 ) 
Non-deductible expenses 81  0.4  134  2.2  
Non-taxable revenues (367 ) (1.8 ) (45 ) (0.7 ) 
Other 159  0.8  17  0.3  
 5,659  28.4  1,790  29.6  
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19. Income taxes (continued) 
The deferred tax assets (liability) by type of temporary difference and carryforward is as follows: 

        2018  

 

Deferred tax 
asset 

(liability) as 
at 

January 1st  

Impact of 
IFRS 9 

adoption 
as at 

January 1st 

Changes 
through 

equity  

Changes 
through 

net income  

Deferred tax 
asset 

(liability) as 
at 

December 31  
 $  $ $  $  $  
          
Net deferred tax  
 asset (liability)   

 
      

Property and  
 equipment and  
 intangible assets  (1,474 ) — —  (432 ) (1,906 ) 
Securities and  
 derivative  
 financial  
 instruments 2,019  — —  (1,092 ) 927  
Allowance for credit  
 losses 3,906  148 —  57  4,111  
Employee benefit  
 liability 7,403  — 236  (1,541 ) 6,098  
Non-capital losses 8,380  — (379 ) 385  8,386  
Actuarial liabilities 19  — —  1  20  
Other (1,867 ) — —  688  (1,179 ) 
 18,386  148 (143 ) (1,934 ) 16,457  
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19. Income taxes (continued) 
 

       2017  

 

Deferred tax 
asset (liability) 

as at January 1st  

Changes 
through 

equity  

Changes 
through net 

income  

Deferred tax 
asset (liability) 

as at 
December 31  

 $  $  $  $  
Net deferred tax  
 asset (liability)         
Property and  
 equipment  
 and intangible  
 assets  (1,077 ) —  (397 ) (1,474 ) 
Securities and  
 derivative  
 financial  
 instruments (1,281 ) 504  2,796  2,019  
Allowance for credit  
 losses 4,370  —  (464 ) 3,906  
Employee benefit  
 liability 8,753  (111 ) (1,239 ) 7,403  
Non-capital losses 5,701  —  2,679  8,380  
Actuarial liabilities 13  —  6  19  
Other 220  —  (2,087 ) (1,867 ) 
 16,699  393  1,294  18,386  

20. Transfer to general reserve 
Pursuant to the Bank Act, the distribution of surplus earnings is the responsibility of the Caisse’s 
directors. Accordingly, the net income for the year have been transferred to the general reserve.  

21. Related party transactions 
In the normal course of business, the Caisse enters into financial transactions with its member 
officers and their related parties. The Caisse’s interest rate policy is to offer the same interest 
rates to member officers who are employees as the rates offered to preferred members. 

At year-end, loans and deposits to member officers who are employees and their related parties 
with the Caisse are as follows: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Loans 1,398  890  
Deposits 620  597  
     
No individual allowance was deemed necessary on these loans. 
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21. Related party transactions (continued) 
Key management personnel compensation 

The key management personnel of the Caisse are the members of the Board of Directors and 
senior management who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Caisse. 

For the year ended December 31, the compensation of the key management personnel of the 
Caisse is as follows: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Short-term benefits 3,618  3,775  
Post-employment benefits 400  405  
 4,018  4,180  

22. Fair value of financial instruments 
Fair value is the consideration that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following 
methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments: 

Short-term financial instruments  

The fair value of cash, accrued interest receivable, receivables, accrued interest payable and 
payables approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature. 

Securities  

The estimated fair value of securities is based on quoted market prices, when available. Fair 
values are based on closing bid prices.  

Fair values of securities are determined as follows: 

•  The fair value of money market securities is equal to the sum of the purchase price and 
accumulated interest; 

•  The fair value of equities is based on their daily quotations on the stock exchange or in the 
market where they are primarily traded; 

•  The fair value of non-publicly traded fixed income securities is determined daily based on prices 
obtained from market participants or investment dealers; 

•  The fair value of the commercial mortgage fund is equal to the discounted value of future cash 
flows of commercial mortgages, established monthly based on current market rates; 

•  The fair value of mutual fund units is the net asset value per unit on each valuation date. 
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22. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
Derivative financial instruments 

Fair values of derivative financial instruments are determined as follows: 

•  The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined by discounting the remaining contractual 
cash flows until maturity of the contract; 

•  The fair value of call options is determined by various assumptions that consider the underlying 
asset, the remaining term and the market volatility; 

•  The fair value of forward contracts is determined based on the spot rate adjusted for the 
forward rate between the current date and the settlement date of the contract. 

Loans  

For certain variable rate loans, whose rates are revised frequently, the estimated fair value is 
assumed to be equal to the carrying value. The fair value of the other loans is estimated using a 
discounted cash flow calculation method that uses market interest rates currently charged for 
similar new loans as of December 31, applied to expected maturity amounts. Changes in interest 
rates as well as in borrowers’ creditworthiness are the main reasons for fluctuations in the fair 
value of the loans. For impaired loans, fair value is equal to carrying value in accordance with the 
valuation techniques described in Note 3. 

Deposits  

The fair value of deposits with no stated maturity is assumed to be equal to the carrying value. 
The fair value of fixed rate deposits is determined by discounting contractual cash flows using 
market interest rates currently offered for deposits with relatively similar terms remaining to 
maturity. 

Reinsurance assets and insurance contract liabilities 

The fair value of the reinsurance assets and the insurance contract liabilities has not been 
established. However, the Caisse annually segments the assets that cover the actuarial liabilities 
or the liabilities for the different business lines. It attempts, within reasonable limits, to match 
the assets’ cash flows with those of the liabilities. In this way, changes in the realizable values of 
assets should generally be offset by changes in the realizable values of the items associated with 
the actuarial liabilities. 

Borrowings  

For the operating credit facilities and the securitization loans, fair value equals the book value 
because they bear interest either at a variable rate or at rates that approximate the market rate.  

Investment contract liabilities 

The fair value of the investment contract liabilities is assumed to be equal to the carrying value. 

The following tables present the carrying amount and fair value of all financial assets and liabilities 
and the related items of income, expense and net gain, according to their classification determined 
by the financial instruments standards.  
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22. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 
 

2018 
 

 
At fair  value through profit 

or loss         
 

 

Designated 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss  

Classified at 
fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss  

Classified 
at fair 
value 

through 
other 

compre-
hensive 
income  

Amortized 
cost  Total  Fair value 

 

 $  $  $  $  $  $  
             
Financial assets             
Cash —  —  —  198,146  198,146  198,146  
Securities             
 Money market  
  securities 2,124  —  29,515  —  31,639  31,639  
 Bonds 149,590  —  318,994  —  468,584  468,584  
 Asset-backed term  
  notes —  —  171  —  171  171  
 Equities —  26,959  —  —  26,959  26,959  
 Investment funds  
  and other —  66,118  —  —  66,118  66,118  
 151,714  93,077  348,680  —  593,471  593,471  
             
Loans —  —  —  3,307,336   3,307,336  3,306,237  
Derivative financial  
 instruments             
 Foreign exchange  
  contracts —  258  —  —  258  258  
 Interest rate swaps —  8,214  —  —  8,214  8,214  
 Options  —  16,212  —  —  16,212  16,212  
Other assets —  —  —  16,181  16,181  16,181  
Total financial assets 151,714  117,761  348,680  3,521,663  4,139,818  4,138,719  
             
Financial liabilities             
Deposits —  —  —  3,415,339  3,415,339  3,341,898  
Loans —  —  —  125,291  125,291  125,291  
Derivative financial  
 instruments             
 Foreign exchange  
  contracts —  258  —  —  258  258  
 Interest rate swaps —  11,624  —  —  11,624  11,624  
 Accrued interest,  
  payables and  
  other liabilities —  —  —  71,153  71,153  71,153  
Total financial  
 liabilities —  11,882  —  3,611,783  3,623,665  3,550,224  
             
Net gains (7,020 ) (2,331 ) (726 ) —  (10,077 ) n/a  
Financial income 5,343  (698 ) 8,438  129,246  142,329  n/a  
Financial expenses —  —  —  (37,023 ) (37,023 ) n/a  
Dividends —  1,302  —  —  1,302  n/a  
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22. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)  
           2017  

 
At fair value through 

profit or loss         
 

 
Designated 

at fair value  
Held for 
trading  

Available-for-
sale  

Loans and 
receivables 

and financial 
liabilities at 

amortized 
cost  Total  Fair value 

 

 $  $  $  $  $  $  
             
Financial assets             
Cash —  —  —  100,193  100,193  100,193  
Securities             
 Money market securities 19,689  —  3,792  —  23,481  23,481  
 Bonds 403,870  —  66,430  —  470,300  470,300  
 Asset-backed term  
  notes 171  —  —  —  171  171 

 

 Term deposits —  —  —  19,499  19,499  19,499  
 Equities 20,494  —  12,192  —  32,686  32,686  
 Investment funds and 
  other 33,951  —  7,688  —  41,639  41,639 

 

 478,175  —  90,102  19,499  587,776  587,776  
             
Loans —  —  —  3,184,700  3,184,700  3,169,972  
Derivative financial  
 instruments            

 

 Foreign exchange  
  contracts —  147  —  —  147  147 

 

 Interest rate swaps —  8,167  —  —  8,167  8,167  
 Other  —  22,145  —  —  22,145  22,145  
Other assets —  —  —  14,791  14,791  14,791  
Total financial assets 478,175  30,459  90,102  3,319,183  3,917,919  3,903,191  
             
Financial liabilities             
Deposits —  —  —  3,255,542  3,255,542  3,272,315  
Loans —  —  —  86,314  86,314  86,314  
Derivative financial  
 instruments            

 

 Foreign exchange  
  contracts —  147  —  —  147  147 

 

 Interest rate swaps —  15,238  —  —  15,238  15,238  
 Accrued interest,  
  payables and other  
  liabilities —  —  —  49,870  49,870  49,870 

 

Total financial liabilities —  15,385  —  3,391,726  3,407,111  3,423,884  
             
Net gains 6,342  —  1,538  —  7,880  n/a  
Financial income 10,613  4,055  2,209  116,822  133,699  n/a  
Financial expenses —  —  —  (33,916 ) (33,916 ) n/a  
Dividends 476  —  554  —  1,030  n/a  
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22. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)  
Classification of fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy 

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement, establishes a fair value hierarchy that reflects the relative 
weight of the data used for valuation. The hierarchy consists of the following levels: 

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments. 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
financial instrument, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 – Inputs for the financial instrument that are not based on observable market data. 

Measurement process of financial instruments for each level 

Securities 

Exchange-traded equity securities are classified at Level 1. For marketable bonds, the Caisse 
determines fair value through, where available, quoted prices related to recent trading 
activities on identical assets or with characteristics similar to those of the bond assessed. 
Securities measured using these methods are usually classified at Level 2. 

Derivative financial instruments 

Usually, prices obtained from models should be used at a lower level, in the hierarchy of 
price sources, than prices that can be observed directly. Where they exist, industry standard 
models should be used whenever possible; observable market inputs are therefore classified 
at level 2. 

Loans 

There is no quoted price in an active market for these financial instruments; they are 
therefore classified at level 3. 

Deposits 

Cash flows are discounted using market interest rates for deposits with substantially the 
same terms and conditions to measure the fair value of deposits; it is therefore classified at 
level 2. 
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22. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)  
Measurement process of financial instruments for each level (continued) 

The following table presents the measurement levels according to the fair value hierarchy: 

       2018  
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  
 $  $  $  $  
         
Financial instruments recorded at fair  
 value         
         
Assets         
Securities         
 Money market securities —  31 639  —  31 639  
 Bonds 280 288  188 296  —  468 584  
 Asset-backed long-term notes —  171  —  171  
 Equities 25 008  —  1 951  26 959  
 Investment funds and other —  66 079  39  66 118  
Derivative financial instruments         
 Foreign exchange contracts —  258  —  258  
 Interest rate swaps —  8 214  —  8 214  
 Options  —  16 212  —  16 212  
         
Liabilities         
Derivative financial instruments         
 Foreign exchange contracts —  258  —  258  
 Interest rate swaps —  11 624  —  11 624  
         
Financial instruments for which fair  
 value is disclosed         
         
Assets         
Loans —  —  3,306,237  3,306,237  
         
Liabilities         
Deposits —  3,341,898  —  3,341,898  
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22. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)  
Measurement process of financial instruments for each level (continued) 

 

       2017  
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  
 $  $  $  $  
         
Financial instruments recorded at fair  
 value         
         
Assets         
Securities         
 Money market securities —  23,481  —  23,481  
 Bonds 41,264  429,036  —  470,300  
 Asset-backed long-term notes —  171  —  171  
 Equities 30,735  —  1,951  32,686  
 Investment funds and other —  41,599  40  41,639  
Derivative financial instruments         
 Foreign exchange contracts —  147  —  147  

Interest rate swaps —  8,167  —  8,167  
 Options  —  22,145  —  22,145  
         
Liabilities         
Derivative financial instruments         
 Foreign exchange contracts —  147  —  147  

Interest rate swaps —  15,238  —  15,238  
         
Financial instruments for which fair  
 value is disclosed         
         
Assets         
Loans —  —  3,169,972  3,169,972  
         
Liabilities         
Deposits —  3,272,315  —  3,272,315  
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23. Commitments and contingencies 
Standby letters of credit and credit commitments 

The primary purpose of financial instruments that present a credit risk is to ensure that members 
and clients have funds available when necessary for variable terms and under specific conditions. 
The collateral security policy of the Caisse with respect to these credit instruments is generally 
the same as that applied to loans. 

Standby letters of credit are irrevocable commitments by the Caisse to make payments for 
members or clients who might not be able to meet their financial obligations to third parties and 
represent the same credit risk as loans. 

Credit commitments represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of 
loans or letters of credit. 

The total amount of credit instruments does not necessarily represent future cash requirements 
since many of these instruments will expire or terminate without being funded. The maximum 
amount of letters of credit and credit commitments is presented in Note 25. 

Other commitments 

At year-end, minimum future commitments relating to the purchases of services and sponsorship 
and donation agreements are as follows: 

   
2019 $303  

Contingencies 

The Caisse is party to various business litigation matters, lawsuits and potential claims arising in 
the course of normal business activities. In management’s opinion, the total amount of contingent 
liability resulting from these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position of 
the Caisse. 

24. Leases 

Lessee 

Operating lease 

At year-end, the future minimum lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases 
for premises and equipment are presented in the following table: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Under 1 year 468  533  
1 to 5 years 1,265  1,167  
 1,733  1,700  
 

Lease payments recognized as expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018, totalled 
$651 (2017 — $606). 
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25. Financial instrument risk management 
The Caisse is exposed to different types of risk in the normal course of operations, including credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Caisse’s objective in risk management is to optimize the 
risk-return trade-off, within set limits, by applying integrated risk management and control 
strategies, policies and procedures throughout its activities. 

Under the Caisse’s risk management approach, its entities and units are accountable for the 
consolidated results and the quality of risk management practices. The boards of directors of the 
Caisse’s components also play a pivotal role in monitoring the risks and results of those units and 
entities. Several committees support the boards of directors and management teams of each 
component in their efforts to fulfill their risk management responsibilities. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of losses resulting from a borrower’s or a counterparty’s failure to honour 
its contractual obligations, whether or not these obligations appear on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. 

Most of the loans and deposits of the Caisse are related to the New Brunswick market. 

Credit risk management 

The Caisse upholds its goal of effectively serving all of its members. To this end, it has 
developed distribution channels specialized by product and member type. The units and 
components that make up these channels are considered centres of expertise and are 
accountable for their performance in their respective markets, including credit risk. In this 
regard, they have latitude regarding the framework they use and credit granting and are also 
equipped with the corresponding management and monitoring tools and structures. 

Framework 

A set of policies and standards govern all aspects of credit risk management for the Caisse. 
These frameworks define: 

● the minimal framework that governs risk management and control activities; 

● the roles and responsibilities of the parties involved. 

These frameworks are supplemented by the Caisse’s credit practices. They define: 

● the guidelines relating to commitment, authorization, review and delegation limits; 

● the policies regarding the management and control of credit activities; 

● the financing terms and conditions applicable to borrowers. 

Credit granting 

To assess the risk of credit activities with individuals and smaller businesses, credit rating 
systems, based on proven statistics, are generally used. These systems were developed using 
a history of borrower behaviour with a profile or characteristics similar to those of the 
applicant to determine the risk of a particular transaction. The performance of these systems 
is analyzed on an ongoing basis and adjustments are made regularly with a view to assessing 
transaction and borrower risk as accurately as possible. 

The granting of credit to businesses is based on an analysis of the various parameters of 
each file, where each borrower is assigned a risk rating. These ratings are assigned 
individually following a detailed examination of the financial, market and management 
characteristics of the business. 
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 
Credit risk (continued) 

Credit granting (continued) 

The depth of the analysis and the approval level required depend on the product 
characteristics as well as the complexity and scope of the transaction risk. Riskier loans are 
approved by the credit risk manager in Caisse’s head office. 

File monitoring and management of more significant risks 

Portfolios are monitored by the Caisse’s head office using credit policies that set out the 
degree of depth and frequency of review based on the quality and extent of the risk related 
to the commitments. 

The management of higher-risk loans involves follow-up controls adapted to their particular 
circumstances. 

Credit risk mitigation 

In its lending operations, the Caisse obtains collateral if deemed necessary for a member’s 
loan facility following an assessment of their creditworthiness. Collateral normally comprises 
assets such as cash, government securities, stocks, receivables, inventory or property and 
equipment. For some portfolios, programs offered by organizations such as the CMHC are 
used in addition to the customary collateral. 

As at December 31, loans guaranteed by the CMHC represented 46% (2017 — 48%) of the 
residential mortgage portfolio. 

Maximum credit risk exposure 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Recognized on the consolidated statement of  
 financial position   

 
 

     
 Cash 156,694  62,439  
 Securities 500,394  513,451  
 Loans     
  Personal 2,175,350  2,139,253  
  Business 1,144,574  1,057,186  
  Collective allowance (12,588 ) (11,739 ) 
 Derivative financial instruments 24,684  30,459  
 Other financial assets 16,181  14,791  
 4,005,289  3,805,840  
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 
Credit risk (continued) 

Maximum credit risk exposure (continued) 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Off-statement of financial position     
     
 Letters of credit 6,796  7,400  
 Credit commitments 790,224  739,609  
 797,020  747,009  

Credit quality 

The following table presents the credit quality of the money market securities and bond 
portfolios, evaluated in accordance with external credit risk ratings. The other financial assets 
of the Caisse are not rated. 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Money market securities     
 R1-H 31,639  23,481  
 31,639  23,481  
     
Bonds     
 AAA 137,614  136,294  
 AA 108,472  68,629  
 A 169,661  218,977  
 BBB 43,119  39,220  
 BB 9,718  7,180  
 468,584  470,300  

Allowance for loss on investments  

The following table shows the change of allowance for loss on investments: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Balance at the beginning of the year   —  —  
     

Effect of IFRS 9 adoption as at January 1, 2018 108  —  
Increase of the allowance on the liquidity portfolio  20  —  
     

Balance at the end of the year   128  —  
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 
Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk refers to the Caisse’s capacity to raise the necessary funds (by increasing liabilities 
or converting assets) to meet a financial obligation, whether or not it appears on the consolidated 
statement of financial position, on the date it is due or otherwise. 

The Caisse manages liquidity risk in order to ensure that it has access, on a timely basis and in a 
profitable manner, to the funds needed to meet its financial obligations as they become due, in 
both normal and stressed conditions. Managing this risk involves maintaining a minimum level of 
liquid securities, stable and diversified sources of funding and an action plan to implement in 
extraordinary circumstances. Liquidity risk management is a key component in an overall risk 
management strategy because it is essential to preserving market and depositor confidence. 

Policies setting out the principles, limits and procedures that apply to liquidity risk management 
have been established. The Caisse also has a liquidity contingency plan including an action plan 
for a stress-case scenario. This plan also identifies sources of liquidities that are available in 
extraordinary situations. This plan allows for effective intervention in order to minimize disruptions 
caused by sudden changes in member and client behaviour and potential disruptions in markets 
or economic conditions. 

The minimum level of liquidity that the Caisse must maintain is prescribed by the OSFI guideline 
titled “Liquidity Adequacy Requirements”. This liquidity level is centrally managed by the Caisse’s 
Treasury function and is monitored on a daily basis. Eligible securities must meet high security 
and negotiability standards. The securities portfolio comprises mostly securities issued by 
governments, public bodies and private companies with high credit ratings, i.e. R1-L or better. 

The Caisse’s Treasury function ensures stable sources of funding by type, source and maturity. 

The following table presents certain financial instruments by remaining contractual maturity: 

       2018  

 
Under 1 

year  
1 to 5 
years  

Over 5 
years  Total  

 $  $  $  $  
         
Deposits 1,574,822  1,822,441  18,076  3,415,339  
Borrowings —  125,291  —  125,291  
Other financial liabilities 71,153  —  —  71,153  
Credit commitments 790,224  —  —  790,224  
Standby letters of credit 6,796  —  —  6,796  
Derivative financial instruments with net  
 settlement 258  11,624  —  11,882  
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 
Liquidity risk (continued) 

       2017  

 
Under 1 

year  
1 to 5 
years  

Over 5 
years  Total  

 $  $  $  $  
         
Deposits 1,654,798  1,600,713  31  3,255,542  
Borrowings —  86,314  —  86,314  
Other financial liabilities 49,870  —  —  49,870  
Credit commitments 739,609  —  —  739,609  
Standby letters of credit 7,400  —  —  7,400  
Derivative financial instruments with net  
 settlement 140  15,245  —  15,385  

Market risk 

Market risk refers to the potential losses resulting from changes in interest rates, exchange rates, 
stock prices, credit spreads, decoupling of indices or liquidity in the markets. The exposure to that 
risk results from trading and investment activities that may or may not be reflected in the 
statement of financial position. 

The Caisse is mainly exposed to interest rate risk through positions related to its traditional 
financing and deposit-taking activities. 

Interest rate risk management 

The Caisse is exposed to interest rate risk, which represents the potential impact of interest 
rate fluctuations on net financial income and the economic value of its equity. 

Dynamic and prudent management is applied to optimize net financial income while minimizing 
the negative impact of interest rate movements. Simulations are used to measure the impact 
of different variables on net financial income and the economic value of equity. The 
assumptions used in the simulations are based on an analysis of historical data and the impact 
of different interest rate conditions on the data, and concern changes in the structure of the 
statement of financial position, member behaviour and pricing. The Caisse’s Risk Management 
committee is responsible for analyzing and adopting the global matching strategy to ensure 
sound management. 

The following table presents the potential impact, before income taxes, of a sudden and 
sustained 100-basis-point increase or decrease in interest rates on the economic value of the 
Caisse’s equity: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Impact of an increase 594  1,031  
Impact of a decrease (2,135 ) (603 ) 

 

The extent of the interest rate risk depends on the gap between assets, liabilities and 
off-statement of financial position instruments. The situation presented reflects the position as 
at that date, and may change depending on members’ behaviour, the interest rate environment 
and the strategies adopted by the Caisse’s Risk Management Committee. 
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 
Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk management (continued) 

The following table summarizes the matching of the maturities of the Caisse’s assets and 
liabilities at year-end.  

       2018  
 Term to maturity or rate change      

 
Floating 

rate 

 

0 to 3 
months  

3 to 12 
months  

1 to 5 
years  

Over 5 
years  

Non- 
sensitive or 

without 
maturity 

 

Total 

 

 $  $  $  $  $  $  $  
               
Assets               
Cash and securities 118,675  4,987  46,858  247,465  218,315  155,317  791,617  
Loans 666,300  416,898  878,481  1,353,475  18,174  (25,992 ) 3,307,336  

Other assets —  —  —  —  —  122,227  122,227  

 784,975  421,885  925,339  1,600,940  236,489  251,552  4,221,180  

               
Liabilities and equity               

Deposits 525,388  428,717  620,717  1,822,441  18,076  —  3,415,339  

Actuarial liabilities —  (227 ) 21,115  (20,627 ) 162,383  —  162,644  

Borrowings —  —  —  125,291  —  —  125,291  

Other liabilities —  —  —  —  —  105,727  105,727  

Equity —  —  —  —  —  412,179  412,179  

 525,388  428,490  641,832  1,927,105  180,459  517,906  4,221,180  

               
Sensitivity gap in items 

recognized in the 
consolidated statement 
of financial position 259,587  (6,605 ) 283,507  (326,165 ) 56,030 

 

(266,354 ) — 

 

Sensitivity gap in  
 derivative 
 instruments by notional 
 amounts —  (345,635 ) (116,075 ) 495,285  (18,100 ) —  15,475 

 

Total sensitivity gap 259,587  (352,240 ) 167,432  169,120  37,930  (266,354 ) 15,475  
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 
Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk management (continued) 

         2017  

 Term to maturity or rate change      

 
Floating 

rate 

 

0 to 3 
months  

3 to 12 
months  

1 to 5 
years  

Over 5 
years  

Non- 
sensitive or 

whitout 
maturity 

 

Total 

 

 $  $  $  $  $  $  $  
               
Assets               
Cash and securities 20,573  22,523  66,276  237,777  200,635  140,185  687,969  
Loans 683,880  398,520  820,277  1,293,194  13,359  (24,530 ) 3,184,700  
Other assets —  —  —  —  —  127,409  127,409  
 704,453  421,043  886,553  1,530,971  213,994  243,064  4,000,078  
               
Liabilities and equity               
Deposits 450,981  500,607  711,551  1,592,371  32  —  3,255,542  
Actuarial liabilities —  (166 ) (471 ) 1,658  169,406  —  170,427  
Borrowings —  —  —  86,314  —  —  86,314  
Other liabilities —  —  —  —  —  89,268  89,268  
Equity —  —  —  —  —  398,527  398,527  
 450,981  500,441  711,080  1,680,343  169,438  487,795  4,000,078  
               
Sensitivity gap in items 
 recognized in the consolidated 
 statement of financial position 253,472  (79,398 ) 175,473  (149,372 ) 44,556  (244,731 ) — 

 

Sensitivity gap in derivative 
 instruments by notional 
 amounts —  (477,760 ) 137,800  338,560  1,400  —  — 

 

Total sensitivity gap 253,472  (557,158 ) 313,273  189,188  45,956  (244,731 ) —  

 

The net gap position on the consolidated statement of financial position is based on maturity 
dates or, if they are closer, the interest rate revision dates of fixed-rate assets and liabilities. 
This gap position represents the difference between the total assets and the total liabilities 
and equity for a given period. 

The above tables show year-end balances, except in the case of certain non-interest 
rate-sensitive assets and liabilities for which the average monthly balance is provided as it 
is used for managing sharply fluctuating daily balances. 

The impact attributable to derivatives represents the cumulative net notional amount related 
to interest rate swaps used to control interest rate risks. At year-end, the conditions for these 
swaps were such that they had offsetting impacts for some periods reported in the table. 
Swaps are transactions under which two parties exchange fixed and variable rate payments, 
based on a notional amount. At year-end, this notional amount was $1,578,310 (2017 — 
$1,708,110). 

A positive total gap for a given period indicates that a sustained rise in interest rates would 
have the effect of increasing the net financial income of the Caisse, while a sustained decline 
in interest rates would decrease net financial income. The reverse occurs when the gap is 
negative. 
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25. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 
Foreign exchange risk management 

Foreign exchange risk arises when the actual or expected value of assets denominated in a foreign 
currency is higher or lower than that of liabilities denominated in the same currency. 

Certain components have adopted specific policies to manage foreign exchange risk. The Caisse, 
except for Acadia Life, limits the gap between the assets and liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars 
by validating its position on a daily basis and by purchasing/selling U.S. dollars as needed. 
Exposure of Acadia Life to this risk is limited, since the majority of transactions are conducted in 
Canadian dollars. However, the global Caisse’s exposure to this risk is limited because the majority 
of its transactions are conducted in Canadian dollars. 

The statement of financial position includes the following amounts in Canadian dollars with respect 
to financial assets and liabilities with cash flows denominated in U.S. dollars: 

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Cash 67,645  17,130  
Securities 4,408  10,074  
Loans 43  154  
Other assets —  22  
Deposits (67,697 ) (17,200 ) 
Other liabilities —  (20 ) 
     
The following table presents the potential pre-tax impact on net income of an immediate and 
sustained $0.01 increase and decrease of the U.S. dollar on the Caisse's capital:  

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Increase of $0.01 of the U.S. dollar 46  102  
Decrease of $0.01 of the U.S. dollar (46 ) (102 ) 

The change in the exchange rate would have no impact on other comprehensive income.  
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26. Insurance and reinsurance risk management 
In the normal course of business, the Caisse is exposed to insurance risk. It is defined as the risk 
that initial pricing is inadequate or becoming so; it results from the risk’s selection, the settlement 
of claims and the management of contractual clauses.  

The insurance risk categories to which the Caisse is exposed are:  

Mortality risk 

Risk of loss due to the fact that the policyholder dies earlier than expected  

Morbidity risk 

Risk of loss due to the fact that the health of the policyholder differs from the forecasts 

Longevity risk 

Risk of loss due to the fact that an annuitant lives longer than expected 

Investment return risk 

Risk of loss due to current yields being lower than expected  

Expense risk 

Risk of loss due to higher expenses than expected  

Risk of policyholder’s decisions 

Risk of loss due to the fact that the policyholder's decisions (lapse and redemption) differ 
from the forecasts 

In order to properly manage these risks, the Caisse conducts regular experience studies to be as 
up-to-date as possible with the industry’s data and the Caisse’s internal data. 

The Caisse has also put in place a supply management guidance to prudently manage and control 
the risks associated with the design and pricing of its products. This guidance allows insurance 
work tables to provide uniform oversight in setting pricing for insurance products. 

The Caisse also has reinsurance agreements with two main objectives: 

1) the sharing of financial risk with a reinsurer, and 

2) to benefit from the expertise of these reinsurers in the design of insurance products. 

Reinsurance is mainly carried out to a single reinsurer. This main reinsurer has a credit rating of 
AA- according to the rating agency Standard & Poor's. 

The Caisse attempts to limit the risk of loss to a single insured or a catastrophic event affecting 
multiple policyholders and to recover a portion of benefits paid through reinsurance 
arrangements. 

 
In the event that reinsurers are unable to meet their contractual obligations, the Caisse would be 
liable for any potential risks associated with the retrocession. 
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27. Capital management  
The objective of the Caisse’s capital risk management is to ensure that the level and mix of capital 
of the Caisse and its subsidiaries are adequate when compared to the risks taken by the 
organization, the profitability and growth goals and the requirements of the regulators. 
Furthermore, the Caisse must optimize the capital allocation and the internal circulation 
mechanisms while supporting the growth, development and risk management of its assets. 

The minimum capital requirements that the Caisse must comply with are defined in the OSFI 
guidelines titled “Capital Adequacy Requirements” and “Leverage Requirements Guideline”. The 
Caisse met its regulatory requirements throughout the year. The summary of the ratios is 
presented below.  

 2018  2017  
 $  $  
     
Regulatory capital, net of deductions     
CET1 377,878  382,052  
T2 13,265  —  
Total 391,143  382,052  
     
Risk-weighted assets 2,257,627  2,098,009  
     
Capital adequacy requirements     
CET1 16.7%  18.2%  
Total 17.3%  18.2%  
     
Assets used in the calculation of leverage ratio 4,140,794  3,895,478  
     
Leverage ratio 9.1%  9.8%  
 

Services Financiers Acadie Inc. 

The Company manages its capital to meet regulatory requirements imposed by the Mutual Fund 
Dealers Association of Canada. Under the rules prescribed by the Mutual Fund Dealers Association 
of Canada, the Company must maintain a minimum amount of risk-adjusted capital, based on the 
nature of the Company's assets and operations. 
Risk adjusted capital is a measure of working capital and liquidity of the Company. 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
   
Total allowable assets 3,964 3,150 
Less:  Total current liabilities 1,081 2,156 
 Minimum capital required 75 75 
 10% of long-term liabilities 8 9 
 Securities owned and sold short 49 48 
 Financial institution bond deductible   
     (greatest under any clause) 2,746 5 
Risk adjusted capital 2,746 857 

 
The Company met its regulatory requirements as at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
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27. Capital management (continued) 
Acadia Life 

2018 

The Company’s capital consists of its equity. The New Brunswick Financial and Consumer Services 
Commission, which is the regulatory authority of Acadia Life, requires that it comply with the 
Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (“OSFI”) guideline defining the Life Insurance 
Capital Adequacy Test (“LICAT”). This guideline establishes standards, based on a risk-based 
approach, that are used to measure a life insurer’s specific risks and to aggregate the results of 
the risk measurement to calculate the amount of regulatory capital required to cover those risks.  

The professional standards of the CIA also require that the designated actuary perform annually 
a dynamic review of capital adequacy. This review serves to show management the changes in 
the surplus and the threats to the Company’s solvency. This process requires the actuary to 
analyze and project, using scenarios, trends in the Company’s financial situation, considering the 
current circumstances, its recent past and its business plan. 

Within this process, regulatory formulas are used as standards for capital adequacy. Currently, 
the required minimum LICAT is 90%.  

As of the end of the year, the Company presents a LICAT that meets the requirements.  

 
   2018  
   $  
     
Tier 1 capital   46,783  
Tier 2 capital   4,137  
Total LICAT available capital   50,920  
     
Surplus allowance and eligible deposits   44,131  
Base solvency buffer   48,237  
     
Total LICAT ratio    197.1%  
Core LICAT ratio   161.0%  
     
 

2017 

The Company’s capital consists of its equity. Under the Insurance Companies Act (the “Act”), 
federal life insurance companies are required to maintain sufficient capital. In addition, the Act 
requires companies operating branches in Canada to maintain a sufficient surplus of assets over 
their liabilities. 

The professional standards of the CIA require that the designated actuary perform annually a 
dynamic review of capital adequacy. This review serves to show management the changes in the 
surplus and the threats to the company’s solvency. This process requires the actuary to analyze 
and project, using scenarios, trends in the company’s financial situation, considering the current 
circumstances, its recent past and its business plan. 

Within this process, regulatory formulas are used as standards for capital adequacy. Currently, 
the required minimum continuing capital and surplus requirement (“MCCSR”) on available capital 
is 120%. However, OSFI and the New Brunswick Superintendent of Insurance expect each 
institution to establish and maintain a target MCCSR ratio of at least 150%. 
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27. Capital management (continued) 
Acadia Life (continued) 

The MCCSR minimum limit set by the Company is 200% while the operating threshold is set at 
250%. However, in accordance with the strategic planning of the Company, the MCCSR target is 
higher in order to take into consideration market volatility and economic conditions, innovations 
within the industry, trends in business combinations and changes occurring internationally. This 
target is revised every three years or as needed if changes occur in the market or in legislation. 

Total available capital is divided into two categories. Tier 1 capital includes the highest quality 
capital items which is based on three essential elements: its permanence, the absence of fixed 
costs attributable to net income and their subordination. Tier 2 capital items do not meet either 
of the first two characteristics of Tier 1 capital but contribute to the overall strength of a 
prosperous company. 

As of the end of the year, the Company presents an MCCSR that meets both the requirements 
and the target it has set itself.  

   2017  
   $  
     
Tier 1 capital   35,995  
Tier 2 capital   8,238  
Total of available capital of MCCSR   44,233  
     
Required capital   16,343  
MCCSR ratio   270.7%  
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